ANNALES UNIVERSITATIS TURKUENSIS

SARJA - SER. D OSA - TOM. 1013 MEDICA - ODONTOLOGICA

BONE HEALTH, OSTEOPOROSIS AND FRACTURE RISK IN NEUROFIBROMATOSIS 1 – AN EMPHASIS ON OSTEOCLASTS

by

Eetu Heervä

TURUN YLIOPISTO UNIVERSITY OF TURKU Turku 2012 From the Department of Cell Biology and Anatomy, Institute of Biomedicine, University of Turku, Turku, Finland

Supervised by

Professor Juha Peltonen, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Cell Biology and Anatomy Institute of Biomedicine University of Turku Turku, Finland

and

Professor Kalervo Väänänen, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Cell Biology and Anatomy Institute of Biomedicine University of Turku Turku, Finland

Reviewed by

Adjunct Professor Minna Männikkö, Ph.D. Department of Medical Biochemistry and Molecular Biology University of Oulu Oulu, Finland

and

Professor Markku Tammi, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Anatomy Institute of Biomedicine University of Eastern Finland Kuopio, Finland

Opponent:

Professor David Viskochil, M.D., Ph.D. Division of Medical Genetics University of Utah Salt Lake City, Utah, USA

ISBN 978-951-29-5016-4 (PRINT) ISBN 978-951-29-5017-1 (PDF) ISSN 0355-9483 Painosalama Oy – Turku, Finland 2012

Eetu Heervä

BONE HEALTH, OSTEOPOROSIS AND FRACTURE RISK IN NEUROFIBROMATOSIS 1 - AN EMPHASIS ON OSTEOCLASTS

Institute of Biomedicine, Department of Cell Biology and Anatomy, University of Turku Annales Universitatis Turkuensis, Medica-Odontologica, Turku, Finland, 2012

ABSTRACT

Neurofibromatosis 1 (NF1) is an autosomal dominant hereditary syndrome, affecting skin, neural tissues and skeleton. Hallmarks of NF1 include benign cutaneous neurofibroma tumors, pigmentation lesions on the skin and in the iris, learning disabilities and predisposition to selected malignancies. Low bone mineral density (BMD) and osteopenia/osteoporosis are common in NF1.

Osteoporosis is a systemic disorder characterized by low bone mineral density and increased fracture risk. Treatment of osteoporosis aims to prevent falls and decrease fracture risk. Osteoporosis is diagnosed in adults by measuring BMD and evaluating clinical risk factors of the patient.

Bone turnover is a process of old bone resorbed by osteoclasts and new bone formed by osteoblasts. Multinuclear osteoclasts are derived from osteoclast progenitors, which can be isolated from peripheral blood. Osteoclast progenitors were isolated from 17 NF1 patients and healthy controls, and cultured *in vitro* to osteoclasts. NF1 osteoclasts are hyperactive, displaying increased differentiation and resorption capacity, abnormal morphology and tolerance to serum deprivation compared to control osteoclasts. These findings expanded the study to evaluate the effects of bisphosphonates, drugs designed to treat osteoporosis, in osteoclasts derived from blood samples of 20 NF1 and control persons. The number of control osteoclasts tolerated the apoptotic effect of alendronate, zoledronic acid and clodronate *in vitro* compared to controls.

NF1-related osteoporosis was found in ~ 20 % of the patients, and selected laboratory parameters were measured. Patients with NF1 have increased levels of serum CTX and PINP, reflecting increased bone turnover *in vivo*.

BMD decreases progressively in NF1 as evaluated in 19 NF1 patients 12 years after their initial BMD measurement. Patients with NF1-related osteopenia often progress to osteoporosis. This was found in patients aged 37-76.

Fracture risk in NF1 was evaluated in a controlled register-based study of 460 NF1 patients and 3988 control persons. Patients with NF1 aged ~40 or older have x5.2 risk ratio for fractures compared to controls, and NF1 children have x3.4 risk ratio compared to control children. NF1-related osteoporosis increased the fracture risk even further.

Keywords: Neurofibromatosis, osteoclast, bone turnover, bone mineral density, fracture

Eetu Heervä

LUUN TERVEYS, OSTEOPOROOSI JA MURTUMARISKI NEUROFIBROMATOOSI 1:SSÄ – ERITYISHUOMIO OSTEOKLASTEISSA

Biolääketieteen laitos, Solubiologia ja Anatomia, Turun Yliopisto Annales Universitatis Turkuensis, Medica-Odontologica, Turku, Suomi, 2012

YHTEENVETO

Neurofibromatoosi 1 (NF1) on vallitsevasti periytyvä oireyhtymä, joka vaikuttaa ihoon, hermostoon ja luustoon. Tyypillistä NF1 oireyhtymälle ovat hyvänlaatuiset ihon neurofibroomat, ihon ja silmän pigmenttimuutokset, sekä oppimisvaikeudet. NF1 altistaa tietyille pahanlaatuisille kasvaimille. Alentunut luuntiheys ja osteopenia/osteoporoosi (luukato) ovat yleisiä NF1:ssä.

Osteoporoosi on laaja-alainen luun häiriö, jossa on tyypillisesti matala luuntiheys ja suurentunut murtumariski. Osteoporoosin hoito on suunniteltu ehkäisemään kaatumista ja vähentämään murtumariskiä. Osteoporoosi todetaan aikuisilla mittaamalla luuntiheys ja arvioimalla kliinisiä riskitekijöitä murtumille.

Luun aineenvaihdunnassa osteoklastit eli luunsyöjäsolut hajottavat vanhaa luuta, ja osteoblastit eli luunrakentajasolut rakentavat uutta luuta. Monitumainen osteoklasti muodostuu osteoklastin esiastesoluista, joita voidaan eristää laskimoverinäytteestä. 17 NF1-potilaan sekä terveiden kontrollihenkilöiden verestä eristettyjä osteoklastin esiasteita viljeltiin soluviljelmässä osteoklasteiksi. NF1 osteoklastit ovat yliaktiivisia. Niillä on kiihtynyt muodostumisnopeus, epänormaali ulkomuoto ja ne hajottavat enemmän luuta verrattuna kontrollien osteoklasteihin. Lisäksi NF1 osteoklastit selviytyvät ilman seerumia. Näiden löydösten perusteella tutkimus laajeni arvioimaan bisfosfonaattien (osteoporoosilääke) tehoa NF1 osteoklasteissa, jotka eristettiin 20:stä NF1-potilaasta ja kontrollihenkilöstä. Kontrollien osteoklastien lukumäärä laski odotetusti bisfosfonaatti-käsittelyn jälkeen. NF1 osteoklastit selviyijelmässä alendronaatin, clodronaatin ja tsoledronaatin vaikutuksia kontrolleja paremmin.

Tässä tutkimuksessa osteoporoosi todettiin 20 %:lla NF1-potilaista, ja lisäksi näistä potilaista otettiin verikokeita. NF1 potilailla on korkeammat seerumin CTX ja PINP tasot verrattuna kontrolleihin, mikä viittaa nopeutuneeseen luun aineenvaihduntaan.

Luuntiheys laskee etenevästi NF1:ssä, kuten osoitimme 19 potilaalla, joiden luuntiheys mitattiin uudelleen 12 vuotta alkuperäisen mittauksen jälkeen. NF1-potilailla, joilla oli aikaisemmin osteopenia, olivat usein edenneet nyt osteoporoosiin saakka. Tätä havaittiin 37-76 vuoden ikäisissä potilaissa.

Murtumariskiä NF1:ssä arvioitiin kontrolloidussa rekisteritutkimuksessa, jossa oli 460 NF1-potilasta sekä 3988 kontrollihenkeä. NF1-potilailla jotka olivat 41-vuotiaita tai vanhempia, oli viisinkertainen riski saada luunmurtuma kontrolleihin verrattuna. NF1-lapsilla vastaava riski oli kolminkertainen. NF1-osteoporoosi suurensi vielä tätä riskiä.

Avainsanat: Neurofibromatoosi, Osteoklasti, Luun aineenvaihdunta, Luuntiheys, Murtuma

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| A | BSTI | АСТ | 3 | | | |
|---|-----------------------|---|----|--|---|-------|
| Y | HTE | ENVETO | 4 | | | |
| TABLE OF CONTENTS ABBREVIATIONS | | | | | | |
| | | | | | L | IST (|
| 1 | INT | RODUCTION | 9 | | | |
| 2 | RE | VIEW OF THE LITERATURE | 10 | | | |
| | 2.1 | Neurofibromatosis 1 | 10 | | | |
| | | 2.1.1 Diagnosis of NF1 | 10 | | | |
| | | 2.1.2 Genetic background of neurofibromatosis 1 | 10 | | | |
| | | 2.1.3 Tumors in NF1 | 14 | | | |
| | | 2.1.4 Pigmentation disorders in NF1 | 16 | | | |
| | | 2.1.5 Skeletal abnormalities associated with NF1 | 16 | | | |
| | | 2.1.6 Other manifestations of NF1 | 22 | | | |
| | 2.2 Bone dynamics | | | | | |
| | | 2.2.1 Structure of bone | 23 | | | |
| | | 2.2.2 Cells of bone and cartilage | 25 | | | |
| | | 2.2.3 Regulation of bone mass | | | | |
| | | 2.2.4 Bone turnover markers and their clinical use | 32 | | | |
| | 2.3 | Osteoporosis | 34 | | | |
| | | 2.3.1 Pathoethiology of osteoporosis | 34 | | | |
| | | 2.3.2 Diagnosis of osteoporosis | | | | |
| | | 2.3.3 Fracture risk in osteoporosis | 37 | | | |
| | | 2.3.4 Treatment guidelines of osteoporosis | | | | |
| | | 2.3.5 Current strategies to reduce the fracture risk | | | | |
| 3 | AIN | IS OF THE CURRENT STUDY | 45 | | | |
| 4 | MATERIALS AND METHODS | | | | | |
| | 4.1 | 4.1 Recruitment of patients with NF1 and controls (I-V) | | | | |
| | 4.2 | 2 Short introduction to cephalometrics (I) | | | | |
| | 4.3 | .3 Histochemistry (II) | | | | |
| | 4.4 | 4 Osteoclast differentiation assay (II,III) | | | | |
| | 4.5 | Evaluation of bisphosphonates and FTS in isolated osteoclasts (III) | 49 | | | |

| | 4.6 | Apoptosis (III) | 49 | | |
|---|------|--|----|--|--|
| | 4.7 | Radiological BMD measurement (III-V) | 49 | | |
| | 4.8 | Serum measurements (II-IV) | 50 | | |
| | 4.9 | Statistics (I-V) | 50 | | |
| 5 | RES | SULTS | 51 | | |
| | 5.1 | Short jaws and cranial base are common in NF1 (I) | 51 | | |
| | 5.2 | Osteoclasts in NF1-related pseudarthrosis (II) | 51 | | |
| | 5.3 | A new method for storing osteoclast progenitors (II,III) | 51 | | |
| | 5.4 | NF1 osteoclasts are hyperactive and apoptosis-tolerant (II,III) | 51 | | |
| | 5.5 | Serum values associated with bone health (III,IV) | 52 | | |
| | 5.6 | NF1 patients show bone catabolism based on bone turnover markers (III) | 53 | | |
| | 5.7 | Serum CTX correlates with bone resorption in vitro (II,III,IV) | 53 | | |
| | 5.8 | Patients with NF1 often display low BMD (III,IV,V) | 53 | | |
| | 5.9 | Risk factors for low BMD are often absent in NF1 (III,IV) | 53 | | |
| | 5.10 |) BMD decreases progressively with aging in NF1 (IV) | 54 | | |
| | 5.11 | Patients with NF1 are at fracture risk (IV,V) | 54 | | |
| | 5.12 | 2 Fracture healing in NF1 (V) | 55 | | |
| 6 | DIS | DISCUSSION | | | |
| | 6.1 | Craniofacial morphology in NF1 | 56 | | |
| | 6.2 | Hyperactive osteoclast and NF1-related bone catabolism | 56 | | |
| | 6.3 | Serum markers of bone health | 57 | | |
| | 6.4 | In vivo - in vitro correlation in bone resorption | 57 | | |
| | 6.5 | Bone mineral density in NF1 | 58 | | |
| | 6.6 | Fracture risk in NF1 | 58 | | |
| | 6.7 | Bone dynamics in NF1 | 59 | | |
| | 6.8 | NF1 children with fractures and/or osteoporosis | 60 | | |
| | 6.9 | New recommendation for DXA scans in NF1 | 60 | | |
| | 6.10 | Treatment recommendation for NF1-related osteopenia | 60 | | |
| | 6.11 | Treatment recommendation for NF1-related osteoporosis | 60 | | |
| | 6.12 | P Future aspects | 61 | | |
| 7 | CO | NCLUSIONS | 62 | | |
| 8 | AC | KNOWLEDGMENTS | 63 | | |
| 9 | RE | FERENCES | 65 | | |
| | | | | | |

ABBREVIATIONS

| BMD | Bone mineral density |
|---------|--|
| BMP | Bone morphogenetic protein |
| BP | Bisphosphonate |
| BTM | Bone turnover marker |
| CTX | Collagen type I C-terminal telopeptide |
| DXA | Dual energy X-ray absorptiometry |
| FTS | Farnesyl thiosalisylic acid |
| GAP | GTPase activating protein |
| HRT | Hormone replacement therapy |
| ICTP | Collagen type I telopeptide |
| IL | Interleukine |
| MCSF | Macrophage colony stimulating factor |
| MPNST | Malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumor |
| NF1 | Neurofibromatosis type 1 |
| NIH | National Institute of Health |
| NNT | Number needed to treat |
| NTX | Collagen type I N-terminal telopeptide |
| OPG | Osteoprotegrin |
| PA | Pseudarthrosis |
| PINP | Procollagen type I N-terminal propeptide |
| РКС | Protein kinase C |
| РТН | Parathyroid hormone |
| RANK | Receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa-beta |
| RANKL | Receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa-beta ligand (RANK-ligand) |
| SERM | Selective estrogen receptor modulator |
| TNF | Tumor necrosis factor |
| TRACP5b | Tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase 5b |
| WHO | World Health Organisation |

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following communications, which are referred in the text by roman numerals I-V:

- I Heervä E, Visnapuu V, Peltonen S, Pirttiniemi P, Happonen RP, Peltonen J: Short mandible, maxilla, and cranial base are common in neurofibromatosis type 1. *Eur J Oral Sci.* 2011. 119(2):121-7.
- II Heervä E, Alanne M, Kuorilehto T, Peltonen S, Hentunen T, Väänänen K, Peltonen J: Osteoclasts in neurofibromatosis type 1 display enhanced resorption capacity, aberrant morphology, and resistance to serum deprivation. *Bone*. 2010. 47(3):583-90.
- III Heervä E, Peltonen S, Svedström E, Aro HT, Väänänen K, Peltonen J. Osteoclasts derived from patients with neurofibromatosis 1 (NF1) display insensitivity to bisphosphonates in vitro. *Bone.* 2012. 50:798-803.
- IV Heervä E, Leinonen P, Kuorilehto T, Peltonen S, Pöyhönen M, Väänänen K, Peltonen J. Bone mineral density remeasured in 19 neurofibromatosis 1 patients after 12 years: osteopenia often progresses to osteoporosis. Submitted manuscript.
- V Heervä E, Koffert A, Jokinen E, Kuorilehto T, Peltonen S, Aro HT, Peltonen J.
 A controlled register based study of 460 neurofibromatosis 1 (NF1) patients: Increased fracture risk in children and adults over 41 years. Submitted manuscript.

The original publications have been reprinted with appropriate rights from copyright holders.

1 INTRODUCTION

Neurofibromatosis type 1 (NF1) or von Recklinghausen's disease is a genetic syndrome affecting skin, neural tissues and skeleton. The incidence of NF1 is $\sim 1/3000$ and it is inherited in an autosomal dominant trait with variable phenotypic expression. The protein encoded by the *NF1* gene, neurofibromin, is a tumor suppressor protein that acts as Ras-GAP, thus inactivating Ras. In other words, neurofibromin deficiency may result in hyperactive Ras pathway.

Approximately half of the patients with NF1 have some form of skeletal disorder, either systemic or focal. Focal skeletal disorders include sphenoid wing dysplasia, lytic bone lesions, dystrophic scoliosis, and congenital bowing and pseudarthrosis of the tibia. Low bone mineral density (BMD) and osteopenia/osteoporosis are frequent findings of the NF1-syndrome.

Bone turnover is a process of bone being resorbed by osteoclasts, and new bone formed by osteoblasts. An imbalance in bone turnover may cause reduced bone mineral density and subsequent osteoporosis. Clinically osteoporosis is diagnosed by dual energy X-ray absorptiometry. Osteoporosis is a risk factor for fractures, but other factors such as risk to fall are equally important. Thus osteoporotic patients with high fracture risk profile may be considered for target population for medical intervention.

Bisphosphonates are drugs that are used to treat osteoporosis. These drugs bind to bone and are subsequently incorporated into bone-resorbing osteoclasts. This initiates a Ras-mediated molecular cascade leading ultimately to death of osteoclasts and slower bone remodeling. This in turn reduces the increased risk of fracture associated with osteoporosis.

The aim of this this study was to characterize bone health in NF1 and NF1-related osteoporosis. Specifically, the role of bone resorbing osteoclasts in NF1-related osteoporosis was poorly understood. In addition, low BMD in NF1 does not necessarily influence the fracture risk. It was also not known whether the frequency of NF1-related osteoporosis is age-dependent or not.

2 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

2.1 NEUROFIBROMATOSIS 1

2.1.1 Diagnosis of NF1

The clinical diagnosis of NF1 is most often based on café-au-lait macules and cutaneous neurofibromas. Mutation in the *NF1* gene has also been proposed as an absolute criterion for NF1 diagnosis [Huson 2008]. However, the diagnosis of NF1 may be complex in some patients. The NIH diagnostic criteria for NF1 are met, when two of the following are present [Stumpf et al. 1988, Gutmann et al. 1997, Williams 2009, Stevenson et al. 2011b]

- Six or more café-au-lait macules, diameter 5 mm before puberty, 15 mm after puberty
- Two or more neurofibromas, or one plexiform neurofibroma
- Freckling in inguinal or axillary region
- Optic glioma
- Two or more Lisch nodules in the eyes
- Skeletal abnormality typical for NF1, such as long bone dysplasia, pseudarthrosis, bone cysts, skoliosis, pectus excavatum or sphenoid wing dysplasia
- A close relative has NF1 (siblings, parents, or children)

2.1.2 Genetic background of neurofibromatosis 1

Neurofibromatosis type 1 (NF1) is a hereditary syndrome affecting skin, neural tissues and skeleton. NF1 is also known as von Recklinghausen's syndrome or disease, or peripheral neurofibromatosis. The hallmarks of NF1 include neurofibroma tumors, pigmented café-au-lait patches on the skin, osseous malformations, learning defects and predisposition to selected malignancies, such as malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumors [Riccardi et al. 1986, Huson 2008, Stumpf et al. 1988]. The incidence of NF1 is approximately 1/2600 - 1/3000 regardless of ethnical or geographical distribution [Friedman et al. 1997, Huson 2008, Jouhilahti et al. 2011a].

Approximately half of the patients with NF1 have negative familial background. In their case neurofibromatosis results from *de novo* mutation. Thus, the rate of mutations in the *NF1* gene is relatively high. In many countries, NF1 is considered as a rare syndrome, but the incidence makes NF1 "a common rare syndrome" [Gutmann et al. 1997, Jett et al. 2010].

Mutation in the NF1 gene has 100 % penetrance in adults, but the severity of the NF1 syndrome is highly variable between the patients. Most of the mutations are

point mutations along the *NF1* gene. See also NF1 microdeletion (below) [Friedman et al. 1997, Riccardi et al. 1986, Szudek et al. 2003, Lammert et al. 2005a, Jouhilahti et al. 2011a]. NF1 is also considered as phakomatosis, a pathosis of neural crest cells (neurocristopathy), since the pathogenic cell types of neurofibromas and café-au-lait macules are derived from the neural crest cells [Ismat et al. 2006].

All cells in NF1 patients have NF1^{+/-} genotype carrying inherited or sporadic mutation of the *NF1* gene. However, biallelic inactivation of the *NF1* gene has been shown in Schwann cells of neurofibromas, melanocytes of café-au-lait macules, tissues derived from some cases of congenital pseudarthrosis of tibia, and in certain MPNST, pheochromocytomas, astrocytomas, and in juvenile myelomonocytic leukemia. The "second hit" is speculated to be a result of either another *de novo* mutation in the originally healthy allele, or the loss of the healthy allele, defined as the loss of heterozygosity [DeRaedt et al. 2006, DeRaedt et al. 2008, Jouhilahti et al. 2011a].

The human *NF1* gene is located on chromosome 17q11.2, contains 61 exons, and codes for a tumor suppressor protein neurofibromin. Neurofibromin contains 2812 amino acids and includes a GTPase activating protein (GAP) domain, which converts active Ras-GTP to inactive Ras-GDP. In other words, NF1 protein is a Ras-GAP [Cawthon et al. 1990, Xu et al. 1990, Marchuk et al. 1991].

The Ras-signaling mechanism is described in **Figure 1.** Neurofibromin (NF1-protein) acts as a Ras-GTPase activating protein (GAP) inactivating Ras by enhancing the intrinsic GTPase activity of Ras. This leads to the switch of active Ras-GTP to inactive Ras-GDP. Consequently, NF1 functions as negative regulator of Ras signaling and cell growth [Binder 2009].



Figure 1. Activation of cell membrane receptor results in guanine nucleotide exchange, converting Ras-GDP to Ras-GTP, via SHP2 signaling. This activates molecular signaling leading to regulation of genes. Neurofibromin (NF1) inactivates Ras-GTP by enhancing its intrinsic GTPase activity [Modified from Binder 2009].

Three Ras isoforms are operative in man; H-Ras, N-Ras and K-Ras [Barbacid 1987]. Ras is a membrane bound G-protein which works as "a molecular switch" for cell signaling, transmitting signals from cell membrane to the nucleus [Valencia et al. 1991,

Adjei 2001]. All Ras proteins have a farnesyl group covalently attached to them, which allows the protein to anchor to the cell membrane. Prenylation or farnesylation means the process of covalent addition of either farnesyl-moeity (15-carbon) or geranyl-moeity (20-carbon) [Glomset et al. 1994].

The principal downstream signaling pathways of Ras include Raf/Mek/Erk and PI3K/ Akt/mTOR, as shown in **Figure 2** [Le and Parada 2007, Binder 2009, Zhang et al. 2011]. Because these pathways are complex, they are only briefly discussed here. Calcium mediated protein kinase C (PKC) and NFAT pathways are also included because they may partially affect Ras.



Figure 2. Selected signaling pathways relevant to the current study [Modified from Tiedemann et al. 2009, Zhang et al. 2011].

The pathways shown in **Figure 2** can be manipulated by selected pharmaceutical molecules designed to inhibit certain molecules, as described in **Table 1** [Tiedemann et al. 2009]. This may be important in NF1 as preclinical studies have shown that inhibition of Ras farnesylation may be used to treat defects in NF1-cells. Farnesylthiosalisylate (Salirasib ®, FTS) inhibits farnesylation of Ras, leading to dislodgement of all Ras isoforms from cell membrane. FTS has been shown to inhibit growth of NF1-associated MPNST cell lines, reducing their Ras activity and actin cytoskeleton to similar phenotype as seen in control non-NF1 cells [Barkan et al. 2006, Adjei 2001].

The upstream effector of Ras farnesylation is the mevalonate pathway. This pathway is regulated by enzyme hydroxymethylglutaryl-coenzyme A reductase, an enzyme in cholesterol synthesis. This enzyme can be inhibited by statins, widely-used medications for hyperlipidemia. Thus, it has been speculated that statins could inhibit farnesyl biosynthesis, leading to reduced Ras signaling, and thus could be used to treat symptoms of NF1 [Grasser et al. 2003, Kolanczyk et al. 2008].

| Target | Molecule | Mechanism |
|------------------------|------------------------------|-------------------------------|
| Ras | Farnesylthiosalisylate (FTS) | Inhibition of farnesylation |
| Protein kinase C (PKC) | GÖ6976 | Specific inhibitor |
| mTOR | Rapamycin | Specific inhibitor |
| Farnesyl biosynthesis | Statins | Reduced farnesyl biosynthesis |

| Table 1 | 1. Selected | inhibitors | of cell | signaling | associated | with Ras |
|---------|-------------|------------|---------|-----------|------------|----------|
|---------|-------------|------------|---------|-----------|------------|----------|

In addition to Ras there are other small GTPases, including the Rho-family GTPases. These include Rho, Rac and Cdc42 GTPases [Jaffe et al. 2005]. In rats, Rac has been shown to associate with Ras at least to some extent [Sun et al. 2005].

Rasopathies: Syndromes interfering with the Ras-pathway

Mutations in the Ras-pathway may result in several hereditary syndromes other than NF1. These include Noonan, Costello, LEOPARD and cardio-facio-cutaneous syndromes, which all are important in differential diagnosis of NF1. The detailed information about the genetic background of these syndromes is reviewed by Tidyman and Rauen [Tidyman et al. 2009] and is briefly summarized in **Table 2**. Ras-pathway can be inhibited by Spred-proteins. Therefore, genetic disruption of Spred leads to hyperactivation of Ras-pathway. In humans, mutation of the *Spred-1* gene causes the Legius-syndrome with NF1-like phenotype but without neurofibromas [Brems et al. 2007, Spurlock et al. 2009, Pasmant et al. 2009]. All these syndromes may include learning difficulties, cardiac defects, skin abnormalities, short stature and facial dysmorphism [Schubbert et al. 2007, Aoki et al. 2008, Pierpont et al. 2010, Jouhilahti et al. 2011a, Stevenson et al. 2011b]. Molecular diagnostics are available for differential diagnosis of these syndromes [Tidyman et al. 2009]. Since the focus of this thesis is in bone, the typical orthopedic manifestations of these syndromes are listed in **Table 2**.

| Syndrome | Defective interaction located in | Selected orthopedic manifestations |
|----------------------------|----------------------------------|--|
| NF1 | Neurofibromin | short stature, low BMD, NF1-specific bone lesions (see 2.1.5) |
| LEOPARD | Raf and SHP2 | short stature, chest wall abnormalities |
| Noonan | Ras, Raf and SHP2 | short stature, scoliosis, chest wall abnormalities |
| Costello | Ras | short stature, scoliosis, chest wall abnormalities, reduced BMD |
| Cardio-facio- cutaneous | Ras, Raf and MEK | short stature, scoliosis, chest wall abnormalities, joint contractures |
| NF1-like (Legius) | SPRED1 (Ras inhibitor) | short stature, chest wall abnormalities |

 Table 2. Syndromes of the Ras-pathway and associated orthopaedic manifestations [Tidyman et al. 2009, Stevenson et al. 2011B]. See Figures 1 and 2 for details of the Ras-pathway.

NF1 microdeletion

Approximately 5-10 % of NF1 patients have NF1 microdeletion, which means deletion of the entire *NF1* gene and variable number of flanking genes. The diagnosis of NF1 microdeletion can be verified by mutation analysis or multiplex ligation polymerase assay [DeRaedt et al. 2006, Pasmant et al. 2010]. NF1 microdeletion patients tend to have more severe clinical phenotype than the other NF1 patients. The NF1 microdeletion patients are prone to have high tumor burden, facial dysmorphism, learning disabilities, low intelligence quotient, cardiovascular malformations and tall stature (on contrary to short stature in NF1) [Pasmant et al. 2010].

2.1.3 Tumors in NF1

Neurofibromas

Neurofibromas can be divided into cutaneous, subcutaneous and plexiform neurofibromas based on their location in the body. Cutaneous neurofibromas are benign tumors traditionally considered to arise from the nerve sheaths and can be found nearly in all adult patients with NF1. Neurofibromas contain multiple cell types typical for peripheral nerves, but they are organized in a haphazard manner. These cells include Schwann cells, fibroblasts, mast cells, endothelial cells, perineurial cells, macrophages and axons. In addition, neurofibromas include cells which have multipotent ability to form Schwann cells, neurons, epithelial cells, and adipocytes *in vitro*. It is speculated whether these multipotent cells are derived from the cells of the hair root. The cell matrix of neurofibroma mainly consists of collagen [Peltonen et al. 1983, Riccardi et al. 1986, Jouhilahti et al. 2011a, Jouhilahti et al. 2011b]. Biallelic inactivation of both *NF1* genes has been demonstrated in Schwann cells cultured from neurofibroma tumors [Serra et al. 1997, DeRaedt et al. 2006].

Plexiform neurofibromas are well-vascularized, associated with nerve trunks or nerve plexuses, and harbor apparently the same cells as non-plexiform neurofibromas. Plexiform neurofibromas may cause severe neurological and cosmetic lesions according to their size and/or anatomical location. Plexiform neurofibromas may also progress into malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumors (MPNST) [Jett et al. 2010, Mautner et al. 2008, Jouhilahti et al. 2011a]. Plexiform neurofibromas are found in ~25 % of NF1 patients [Friedman et al. 1997].

MPNST

MPNST stands for malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumor, also referred to sarcomas of the peripheral nerve, neurofibrosarcomas or malignant schwannomas. Even though MPNST can be diagnosed in patients without NF1, NF1 is a marked risk factor for development of MPNST. In general population, the average age of MPNST diagnosis is 60 years, while the respective age in patients with NF1 is 20 years. Patients with NF1 have 8-13 % lifetime risk of developing MPNST [Evans et al. 2002]. MPNST

is usually derived from pre-existing plexiform neurofibroma, but only approximately 2-5 % of plexiform neurofibromas develop into MPNST [Ducatman et al. 1986, Evans et al. 2002]. Whole-body MRI is an effective method of detecting plexiform neurofibromas and MPNST, as they can be found in any anatomical location. However, positron emission tomography may be required to distinguish MPNST from plexiform neurofibroma [Ferner et al. 2007, Mautner et al. 2008]. MPNST has a poor prognosis and may metastasize. Histologically, MPNST resembles cell-rich sarcomatous tumor [Mautner et al. 2008, Upadhyaya et al. 2008].

Optic glioma

Optic glioma is classified as gradus I pilocytic astrocytoma according to WHO. Optic glioma is the most common type of brain tumor in children with NF1, and they appear before the age of 7 years. However, the optic glioma may remain asymptomatic and thus may be found in patients with NF1 at any age. Optic glioma is found in 15-20 % of the patients with NF1, but most are asymptomatic and remain so thorough the life. Symptomatic ones are found in ~4 % of NF1 patients. Children diagnosed with optic glioma may present with vision loss, disturbances in color vision and function of pupilla, and proptosis. In addition, optic gliomas may cause precocious puberty due to local pressure to pituitary gland [Listernick et al. 1989, 1997, 2007, Friedman et al. 1997].

The natural history and treatment of NF1-associated optic glioma is different from that of sporadic one in individuals without NF1 [Listernick et al. 2007]. Patients with NF1 who have received radiotherapy for optic gliomas are at significant risk of developing other central nervous system tumors later in their life. These tumors usually are malignant. Thus, radiation therapy is not recommended for NF1-related optic gliomas [Jett et al. 2008, Kleinerman 2009]. Chemotherapy of combination of vincristine and carboplatin is recommended for those patients with progressive symptomatic optic glioma. This therapy is especially effective in children aged 5 years or younger [Packer et al. 1997, Jett et al. 2008].

Other malignancies associated with NF1

NF1 is associated with a variety of different tumors and malignancies in addition to those mentioned above. These include:

- Central nervous system tumors, mainly medulloblastomas and astrocytomas, are associated with NF1 [Riccardi et al. 1986, Evans et al. 2002, Jett et al. 2008].
- Pheochromocytoma tumors are relative rare, but are associated with NF1 [Riccardi et al. 1986, Jett et al. 2008].
- Patients with NF1 are at marked risk for acute leukemia, especially juvenile myelomonocytic leukemia [Stiller et al. 1994, Side et al. 1997].
- Increased risk for breast cancer has been associated in women with NF1 and below 50 years of age [Walker et al. 2006, Sharif et al. 2007].

Mortality and life expectancy in NF1

The most common causes of death in NF1 are malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumors (MPNST) and gliomas. These two types of malignancy cause premature death and shorter life expectancy in NF1. Median survival of NF1 patients in the UK is 72 years for men and 79 for women. This is roughly 8 years less than in general population. Excess mortality was noted in NF1 population aged 10-40 years, mostly due to MPNSTs [Evans et al. 2011, Duong et al. 2011].

2.1.4 Pigmentation disorders in NF1

Café-au-lait macules and freckling

Café-au-lait macules are a common pigmentation disorder in NF1. The macules are usually oval, clear-bordered, unicolor and benign hyperpigmentation patches in the skin. Their average diameter is 2-5 cm. Café-au-lait patches can be found in any anatomical location, but are seldom present in face. They may be visible in patient's skin soon after birth, or appear during the first year. Six or more café-au-lait patches are found in 90 % of adult NF1 patients [Friedman et al. 1997, Jett et al. 2010, Jouhilahti et al. 2011a]. Melanocytes cultured from these café-au-lait patches have higher amounts of melanin compared to melanocytes derived from normally pigmented skin of NF1 patients. The number of melanocytes was equal between the skin samples from patients with NF1 and healthy controls. Thus, café-au-lait macules in NF1 appear to have normal number of melanocytes, but abnormally high levels of melanin [Kaufmann et al. 1991]. Double inactivation of the *NF1* gene has been demonstrated in melanocytes derived from café-au-lait macules of patients with NF1 [De Schepper et al. 2006].

Freckling in axillary or inguinal regions develops in almost 90 % of the patients with NF1 and usually by the age of 7 years. Freckling in these regions is rare in individuals without NF1 [Friedman et al. 1997, DeBella et al. 2000].

Lisch nodules

Lisch nodules are melanocytic pigmentation disorders of the iris, but their exact pathoethiology remains unclear. Lisch nodules are found in ~ 90 % of the postpubertal patients with NF1. In addition, the majority of these nodules are located inferiorly. It has been proposed that Lisch nodules are unique for NF1 [Lewis et al. 1981, Friedman et al. 1997, Richetta et al. 2004, Nichols et al. 2003].

2.1.5 Skeletal abnormalities associated with NF1

Overview

Approximately half of patients with NF1 have some form of clinically detectable skeletal abnormality [Crawford et al. 1986]. These abnormalities can be classified either as

focal or systemic. Focal lesions include long bone dysplasia, congenital pseudarthrosis, sphenoid wing dysplasia, bone cysts and scoliosis, and are rare compared to systemic ones, which include short stature and low BMD [Elefteriou et al. 2009]. It is suggested that NF1 patients with sphenoid wing dysplasia are more likely to have long bone dysplasia or vertebral dysplasia, compared other NF1 patients [Alwan et al. 2007].

In bone, the presence of neurofibromin mRNA and protein have been detected in human osteoclasts, osteocytes, osteoblasts and chondrocytes, and also in mouse mesenchymal stem cells. Since certain NF1-related skeletal lesions are congenital, NF1 protein is suggested to be essential for normal development of bone [Kuorilehto et al. 2004, Kolanzcyk et al. 2007, Leskelä et al. 2009].

Scoliosis

Scoliosis is evident in approximately 20-25 % of individuals with NF1. About 5 % of patients with NF1 and scoliosis will require some form of surgical intervention [Friedman et al. 1997, Young et al. 2002]. There are two types of scoliosis associated with NF1; dystrophic and idiopathic. The most common type is an idiopathic scoliosis with a long and mild spinal curve. The other type is specific for NF1, with a very sharp angle (kyphosis more than 50 degrees) and very rapid possibly life-threatening progression. The latter type is referred as dystrophic scoliosis and it usually affects up to five vertebrae [Crawford et al. 1986, Kim et al 1997, Crawford et al. 2007]. Patients with NF1 may also present a variety of dystrophic spinal features other than scoliosis. These include abnormally sized vertebral bodies, short vertebral segments, wide spinal canal, rotated ribs and the presence of paraspinal mass [Alwan et al. 2007].

Congenital bowing and pseudarthrosis of the long bones

Congenital bowing of long bones is also known as long bone dysplasia, and usually progresses to fracture and non-union of the bone, the pseudarthrosis (PA) [Stevenson et al. 2011b]. NF1-related congenital PA most often affects tibia, but it may affect ulna or other long bones. Congenital PA of tibia affects 2-4 % of patients with NF1 [Young et al. 2002, Friedman et al. 1997]. On the other hand, 50-80 % of all patients with congenital PA have NF1 [Stevenson et al. 1999]. The NF1-related congenital PA of tibia is typically unilateral and is clinically detected when the child begins to stand and walk, presenting with anterolateral bowing of the tibia [Stevenson et al. 1999, Young et al. 2002, Crawford and Schorry 2006]. Progressive deformity and atrophy caused by disused extremity in PA may lead to amputation of the affected limb [Ohnishi et al. 2005].

Tissue from the PA site has been characterized as osteoid rich, fibro-cartilaginous and well-vascularized tissue, with varying amounts of osteoclasts. Thickened walls of arteries and veins with narrowed lumens have been described in the vicinity of NF1 pseudarthrosis tissue, suggesting a vascular abnormality [Hermanns-Sachweh et al. 2005, Kuorilehto et al. 2006, Sakamoto et al. 2007]. Double inactivation of the *NF1*

gene in pseudarthrosis tissue has been shown in some, but not all, samples from patients with NF1 [Stevenson et al 2006, Sakamoto et al. 2007, Leskelä et al. 2009].

Congenital PA of tibia is difficult to treat. Both external fixation (Ilizarov method) and internal fixation (intramedullar nail) are used to treat the PA. Surgical fixation is often supported by cortical allocraft, i.e. moving another healthy bone of the patient to support the PA site. The ossification process can be further supported by giving recombinant human bone morphogenetic proteins, which induce bone formation. The current treatment options are summarized by Schindeler et al. (2011).

Short stature and macrocephaly

The growth charts of children with NF1 follow the reference charts until the age of 7 (girls) and 12 (boys) in Italian and North American pediatric cohorts. The prepubertal growth charts do not necessarily predict the final height of NF1 patients, since height of adult NF1 patients is markedly shorter. In addition, growth rate of children with NF1 diminishes after the onset of puberty compared to predicted growth rate. True short stature (height \leq -2 SD) is detected in 13-18 % of patients with NF1 [Clementi et al. 1999, Szudek et al. 2000, Virdis et al. 2003].

Macrocephaly, determined by occipito-frontal circumference, is common in NF1. Macrocephaly can be detected in ~25 % of North American patients with NF1. The brain volume has also been demonstrated to be larger in persons with NF1 compared to those without. This has been suggested as the reason for macrocephaly [Clementi et al. 1999, Szudek et al. 2000, Greenwood et al. 2005].

Craniofacial abnormalities and sphenoid wing dysplasia

A number of craniofacial findings in NF1 have been reported. These findings include enlarged mandibular foramen and canal, wide and branched inferior alveolar canal, and decrease in the mandibular angle. Neurofibromas can also reside in oral tissues, and plexiform neurofibromas have been reported to associate with supernumerary or missing teeth, retention of teeth, and deformed alveolar ridge [Shapiro et al. 1984, D'Ambrosio et al. 1988, Lee et al. 1996, Friedrich et al. 2003, Visnapuu et al. 2011]. Furthermore, a rare specific lytic bone lesion of the jaws, periapical cemental dysplasia, has been reported to be common in women with NF1 [Visnapuu et al. 2007]. Facial asymmetry afflicts ~10 % of patients with NF1, and is usually associated with sphenoid wing dysplasia or plexiform neurofibroma of the 5^{th} cranial nerve [D'Ambrosio et al. 1988, Friedman et al. 1997].

Sphenoid wing dysplasia is estimated to be present in ~ 10 % of patients with NF1 [Friedman et al. 1997]. Dysplasia of the sphenoid wing is often associated with adjacent soft tissue tumor [Jacquemin et al. 2002]. These abnormalities are usually asymptomatic but are diagnosed in routine X-rays or tomography scans of the head [Elefteriou et al. 2009].

Chest wall abnormalities

Abnormalities of the chest wall are not well documented. Pectus excavatum, ie. impression of the anterior chest wall, is occasionally associated with NF1. The defect is usually cosmetic [Elefteriou et al. 2009].

Reduced bone mineral density

Reduced bone mineral density (BMD) is common in NF1. Specifically, lower BMD values in patients with NF1 compared to matched control individuals have been demonstrated in both sexes, all ages, and using both dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) and ultrasound [Kuorilehto et al. 2005, Lammert et al. 2005b, Stevenson et al. 2007, Yilmaz et al. 2007, Dulai et al. 2007, Duman et al. 2008, Brunetti-Pierri et al. 2008, Tucker et al. 2009, Seitz et al. 2010, Petramala et al. 2011]. Also the frequency of osteoporosis and osteopenia is markedly higher in NF1 population compared to controls as summarized in **Table 3**. The lowest BMD values are clustered in load carrying parts of the body, such as the spine and legs, while this phenomenon was not evident in control persons. Kuorilehto et al. also demonstrated that total bone calcium and total bone mineral content were significantly lower in patients with NF1 than in the control persons [Kuorilehto et al. 2005].

| Study | Patients | Osteoporosis | Osteopenia |
|----------------------|----------------------------------|--------------------|----------------------|
| Kuorilehto 2005 | 26 females, 14 males, aged 21-73 | 7 (27 %) | 13 (50 %) |
| Stevenson 2007 | 39 females, 45 males, aged 5-18 | BMD reported lower | compared to controls |
| Duman 2008 | 16 females, 16 males, aged 3-17 | BMD reported lower | compared to controls |
| Seitz 2008 | 9 females, 5 males, aged 19-66 | 8 (57 %) | not reported |
| Brunetti-Pierri 2008 | 47 females, 26 males, aged 3-59 | 24 (32 %)* | 41 (57 %) |
| Tucker 2009 | 43 females, 29 males, aged 18-72 | 14 (19 %) | 36 (50 %) |
| Petramala 2011 | 33 females, 37 males, aged 27-55 | 13 (18 %) | 31 (44 %) |
| Current study III | 10 females, 10 males, aged 23-76 | 4 (20 %) | 11 (55 %) |
| Current study IV | 8 females, 11 males, aged 26-77 | 7 (37 %) | 7 (37 %) |
| Current study V** | 27 females 23 males aged 18-93 | 14 (28 %) | 24 (48 %) |

Table 3. Osteoporosis and osteopenia in NF1.

* in this study, osteoporosis was defined as Z-score -2.5 SD or less.

** in this study, a selected cohort was examined, and there is overlap with studies III and IV

A group of 16 adolescents with NF1 was treated with vitamin D supplementation and followed-up for two years. However, the age-matched BMD (Z-score) did not change [Brunetti-Pierri et al. 2008]. Correlation between whole-body subtotal agematched BMD (Z-score), urine collagen degradation products and *in vitro* osteoclast differentiation capacity in 75 patients with NF1 aged 1-25 has been studied, but no significant correlations were found [Stevenson et al. 2011a]. Fracture risk in NF1 has been addressed in two previous studies [Brunetti-Pierri et al. 2008, Tucker et al. 2009]. Both studies used a questionnaire sent to the patients. Brunetti-Pierri et al. found a history of fractures in 35 of 67 (52 %) NF1 patients. Tucker et al. found 41 fractures verified by radiologist in 24 out of 72 (33 %) NF1 patients, and also reported that NF1 patients had increased fracture risk compared to their unaffected spouses and/or siblings.

Laboratory values reflecting bone dynamics

High levels of serum parathyroid hormone, and increased collagen degradation products in urine have been reported in patients with NF1 [Tucker et al. 2009, Brunetti-Pierri et al. 2008, Seitz et al. 2008, Stevenson et al. 2011A]. Low levels of serum vitamin D have been reported in NF1 patients, also in NF1 children [Lammert et al. 2006, Tucker et al. 2009, Brunetti-Pierri et al. 2008, Stevenson et al. 2011c]. It is also proposed that NF1 patients with high neurofibroma tumor burden have even lower vitamin D values than other NF1 patients [Lammert et al. 2006]. In the subpopulation of patients with NF1 and low BMD, low levels of serum osteocalcin [Duman et al. 2008], high levels of serum parathyroid hormone, calcium and TRACP5b have been reported [Brunetti-Pierri et al. 2008, Seitz et al. 2008].

Bone biopsies and histomorphometry in NF1

Bone biopsy histomorphometry from the patients with NF1 revealed increased volume of osteoid, and increased number of both osteoclasts and osteoblasts compared to controls [Brunetti-Pierri et al. 2008, Seitz et al. 2008]. Patients with NF1 have narrower tibial bones compared to healthy controls [Stevenson et al. 2009].

Osteoclasts and osteoblasts in patients with NF1

In bone, the presence of neurofibromin mRNA and protein have been detected in human chondrocytes, osteoblasts and osteoclasts [Leskelä et al. 2009]. Osteoclasts progenitors can be isolated from peripheral blood and cultured into osteoclasts *in vitro*. Osteoclasts derived from peripheral blood of the patients with NF1 are more numerous, resorb larger amounts of bone, and display increased ERK activity. Human NF1 osteoclasts progenitors from five patients also display enhanced migration, adhesion and proliferation capacity [Yang et al. 2006, Stevenson et al. 2011a].

Osteogenic potential of NF1-osteoblasts was estimated by levels of bone formation markers in the mesenchymal stem cell culture, including alkaline phosphatase and procollagen type I N-terminal propeptide (see 2.2.4). Levels of cell culture alkaline phosphatase and procollagen type I N-terminal propeptide were lower in mesenchymal stem cells derived from three patients with NF1 compared to healthy controls [Leskelä et al. 2009].

Modeling NF1-related skeletal lesions with murine models

Nf1^{-/-} mouse embryos die in early embryonic state [Brannan et al. 1994, Lakkis and Epstein 1998]. Nf1^{+/-} mice display defective osteoblast progenitors and osteoblasts, and hyperactive osteoclasts. However reduced bone mass or focal bone dysplasia was not found in this model [Yu et al. 2005, Yang et al. 2006].

Nf1-deficiency in committed osteoblasts was generated using Cre-recombinase in osteoblast-specific 2.3 kb type I collagen promoter (Nf1^{-/-ob} mice). This produced mice with no apparent morphological defects, but with high bone turnover. The mice display increased collagen synthesis and defective mineralization causing increased osteoid volume. Also high numbers of osteoclasts were noted in these animals [Elefteriou et al. 2006]. Nf1^{-/-ob} mice also display short vertebral segments, reduced vertebral bone mass, and enlarged intervertebral canal, in analogy to those findings seen in humans with NF1. Tissue sections of vertebrae of these mice display increased number of osteoclasts and decreased number of osteoblasts [Zhang et al. 2011].

Nf1-deficiency generated using Cre-recombinase under Prx promoter generates a Nf1^{Prx-/-} mouse model, where cells derived from mesenchymal stem cells are affected. These cells include osteoblasts, adipocytes, chondrocytes, muscle cells and endothelial cells of the developing limb bud mesenchyme. These mice display growth retardation and grossly abnormal, stunted limbs, and bowing of the tibia similar to that seen in patients with NF1. Defects were also observed in osteoblasts [Kolanczyk et al. 2007, Kolanczyk et al. 2008].

Also the Nf1^{+/-} mice have been used to study congenital pseudarthrosis of tibia. The tibia of these mice was fractured surgically and bone healing was found to be delayed [Schindeler et al. 2008]. Lovastatin has been shown to increase fracture healing rate in Nf1^{-/-ob} and Nf1^{Prx-/-} mice. Lovastatin inhibits mevalonate pathway, which in turn leads to reduced prenylation, ie. addition of farnesyl groups. Since Ras protein requires prenylation, it has been postulated that the effect of the drug is mediated through this mechanism [Kolanczyk et al. 2008, Wang et al. 2010].

Osteoclast-spesific knockout of the *Nf1* gene can be generated using Cre-recombinase under TRACP promoter. This generates a mouse model with Nf1-deficient osteoclasts in otherwise Nf1^{+/+} background, the Nf1^{Ocl} mice. These mice had normal BMD, but the perimeter of cortical bone and the bone marrow cavity were smaller compared to control mice. Osteoclasts derived from Nf1^{Ocl/-} mice showed a hyperactive phenotype, resorbing larger amounts of bone compared to control mice. In addition to osteoclast findings, these mice had enlarged spleen and narrower growth plates compared to control mice [Alanne et al. 2012].

Conditional inactivation of NfI gene in type II collagen alfa-1 promoter results in inactivation of NfI in chondrocytes, thus named $Nf1^{-/-col2}$ mice. However, for yet unknown reasons, the cre-recombinase also inactivates targeted genes (NfI for instance)

in a subpopulation of bone marrow osteochondroprogenitors, and thus in some mature osteoblasts and osteocytes. Nf1^{-/-col2} mice display a phenotype very similar to osseous malformations see in patients with NF1. The mice display scoliosis, kyphosis, bowing of tibia and abnormalities in the skull and chest wall. These mice also have increased number of osteoclasts and decreased number of osteoblast, and increased amount of osteoid compared to wild type mice [Wang et al. 2011].

Hyperactive osteoclasts are documented in Nf1^{+/-}, Nf1^{-/-ob}, Nf1^{Ocl} and Nf1^{-/-col2} murine models. The hyperactive Ras seen in osteoclasts of these mice has been shown to upregulate PI3K/Akt/mTOR and Raf/MEK/ERK pathway signaling [Yang et al. 2006, Ma et al. 2012]. In addition, Ras-regulated functions of rat osteoclasts have been shown to be mediated to some extent via the family of small Rho GTPases, including Rac1 GTPase [Sun et al. 2005]. In mice, genetic disruption of Rac1 function restored the hyperactive phenotype of Nf1^{+/-} osteoclasts [Yan et al. 2008].

2.1.6 Other manifestations of NF1

Cardiovascular abnormalities and hypertension

A number of cardiovascular abnormalities have been reported to be associated with NF1. Most noted abnormalities are pulmonary stenosis, coarctation of aorta and fibrodysplasia of renal arteries. The latter usually results in stenosis of renal arteries. Some kind of cardiovascular abnormality has been found in 2-18 % of patients with NF1 [Friedman et al. 1997, Lin et al. 2000, Tedesco et al. 2004]. Hypertension is also associated with NF1 but the pathoethiology is poorly understood [Tedesco et al. 2005]. Hypertension occurs in 15-19 % in children and adolescents with NF1, and most of the hypertension cases are due renal artery stenosis [Fossali et al. 2000, Lama et al. 2004]. In addition, pheochromocytoma tumors are associated with NF1, and may be a cause of secondary hypertension. It is speculated that half of hypertensive patients with NF1 may have pheochromocytoma [Zinnamosca et al. 2011]. Hypertension in pediatric patients with NF1 is also associated with changes in the structures of heart, such as thickening of ventricular walls [Fossali et al. 2000, Tedesco et al. 2005, Lama et al. 2004].

Precocious puberty

Precocious puberty or pubertas praecox means premature beginning of puberty, and has been reported in 4-16 % of the patients with NF1 [Friedman et al. 1997, Virdis et al. 2003]. This incidence has been reported to be increased compared to patients' mothers [Virdis et al. 2003]. Optic glioma may cause precocious puberty due to local pressure to pituitary gland [Listernick et al. 2007].

Cognitive difficulties

Cognitive difficulties include for example learning and speech problems. Learning disabilities and social difficulties are associated with NF1, and are estimated to affect

30-60 % of patients with NF1 [Ferner et al. 2007, Huson 2008]. Speech characteristics in NF1 include deviations in voice quality, problems in regulating pitch, deviant nasality, misarticulation and disfluency [Alivuotila et al. 2010]. Delayed development of speech and articulation has also been reported in patients with NF1 [Thompson et al. 2010].

2.2 BONE DYNAMICS

2.2.1 Structure of bone

Overview

Bone consist of cortical (compact) and cancellous (spongious, trabecular) bone. Long bones have epiphyses (the growth plate), diaphyses (the shaft) and metaphyses (the between). The bone itself consists of the inorganic matrix, organic matrix, and bone cells. The organic matrix mainly consists of type I collagen and bone proteins. These proteins are for example osteocalcin, osteopontin, osteonectin and bone sialoprotein. The organic matrix is mineralized, and the inorganic matrix of bone is mostly calciumrich hydroxyapatite [Shapiro 2008, Lefebvre et al. 2010]. The major bone cells are the bone-resorbing osteoclasts, bone-forming osteoblasts and osteocytes which lie within the bone. These cells are discussed in 2.2.2.

Osteons

Osteons are cylindrical structures formed around blood vessels in cortical bone. Osteons are formed during bone growth but also during the bone remodeling. Traditionally it is considered that old bone is first resorbed by osteoclasts, followed by mineralization of the resorbed space by osteoblasts, finally leading to formation of a new osteon. Osteon is pierced by multiple small canaculi, which are connecting the osteocytes to each other. The blood vessel is located in the centre of the osteon, in the Haversian canal, as depicted in **Figure 3**. However, alternating morphologies of the osteon are reported [Cooper et al. 2011]. Osteons are arranged to withstand the load-bearing stress on bone, usually parallel to the longitudinal axis of bone [Lin et al. 2011]



Figure 3. Structure of bone showing periosteum, endosteum, osteon, Haversian canal and lacunae [Modified from Lin et al. 2011].

Ossification

Bone is derived from three origins; paraxial mesoderm, lateral plate mesoderm and neural crest. Most bones are formed through endochondral ossification from paraxial and lateral plate origins. Most of facial bones are formed through intramembraneous ossification from neural crest cells.

- The endochondral ossification is a process of cartilaginous framework (the cartilage anlage) subsequently replaced by osteoblasts and mineralized into bone [Shapiro 2008, Lefebvre et al. 2010]. The chondrocytes undergo hypertrophy, and secrete factors that attract blood vessels. This in turn leads to invasion of osteoblasts into the cartilage. Thus the cartilage is transformed into bone [Zhao et al. 1997, Colnot et al. 2004].
- In intramembraneous ossification, mesenchymal stem cells within a fibrous plate differentiate directly into bone-forming osteoblasts [Shapiro 2008, Lefebvre et al. 2010].

Limbs are developed from limb bud mesenchyme derived from lateral mesoderm through endochondral ossification [Sadler 2006]. The structures of the skull develop in a complex fashion. The skull can be divided into neurocranium (cranial base and flat bones encasing the brain) and viscerocranium (the facial bones). Posterior cranial base is derived from paraxial mesoderm, and anterior cranial base from neural crest cells, through endochondral ossification. Flat bones encasing the brain are derived from paraxial mesoderm and neural crest cells through intramembraneous ossification. Viscerocranium is derived from neural crests cells of the first two pharyngeal arches through intramembraneous ossification [Nie 2005, Sadler 2006]. Craniofacial growth is generally considered to be regulated by interaction of genomic and functional factors. Cranial base exerts considerable influence on facial growth [Nie 2005].

Mandible develops from the 1st pharyngeal arch via intramembraneous ossification, as neural crest cells migrate and proliferate within the mandibular arch. Initial ossification of mandible occurs in the vicinity of a structure called Meckel's cartilage, and the bony plates spread out into anterior and posterior directions, following the outlines of Meckel's cartilage. Once the two mandibles fuse in the midline Meckel's cartilage becomes atrophic, and is subsequently resolved [Radlanski et al. 2003, Chai et al. 2006]. The cartilage of mandibular condyle develops separate from the mandible, and becomes attached to the membranous mandible during development, finally becoming articular cartilage [Morimoto et al. 1987, Visnapuu et al. 2000].

Fracture healing

Fracture healing is a process involving the different bone cells and a variety of cytokines. Both intramembraneous and endochondral ossification occurs during fracture healing. Fibrinous blood clot formed around the fracture site is essential for normal fracture healing. The healing process has three phases; inflammation, repair and remodeling. During the inflammation phase, a fibrous external capsule is formed around the fracture site, the callus. Callus can be seen in radiographs. In repair phase, mesenchymal stem cells migrate into fracture site and differentiate into osteoblasts, and start forming new bone. Also chondrocytes are formed, and they take part in endochondral ossification. Finally, osteoclasts migrate to the site and start the bone remodeling phase, ultimately leading to "healed" bone [Shapiro 2008, Coulibaly et al. 2010].

2.2.2 Cells of bone and cartilage

Osteoblasts

Osteoblasts form new bone, produce proteins of extracellular matrix, play a crucial role in bone mineralization and fracture healing, and also regulate bone resorption through OPG/RANK/RANKL system (see 2.2.3). Osteoblasts are derived from mesenchymal stem cells, which differentiate into osteoblast progenitors, or osteoprogenitors, and finally to mature osteoblasts. Once embedded in mineralized bone matrix, mature osteoblasts may become osteocytes [Jensen et al. 2010].

Withdrawal of osteoblasts from trabecular or endosteal bone surface triggers the bone resorption by osteoclasts [Chambers et al. 1985]. Osteoblasts secrete MCSF, RANKL and OPG, and also several other signaling molecules, which are essential for bone dynamics and resorption. The OPG/RANK/RANKL pathway is the main regulator of bone resorption and is discussed in 2.2.3 [Yasuda et al. 1998, Katagiri et al. 2002].

Osteoblasts are characterized by their expression of type I collagen, alkaline phosphatase, osteopontin, osteonectin and osteocalcin in different stages of their differentiation. The three latter proteins are secreted and found within the bone matrix. *Runx2* is the master regulator gene in maturation of osteoblasts. Also multiple other factors influence positively on development of osteoblasts, including activation of *ATF4*, *NFAT1* and *AP-1* genes. Osteoblast maturation is enhanced by vitamin D as well as intermittent pulses of parathyroid hormone [Jensen et al. 2010, Rachner et al. 2010]. Bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) induce bone formation by affecting multiple bone cell types, but principally by affecting the OPG/RANK/RANKL pathway [Kamiya et al. 2011].

Osteocytes

Osteoblasts which are trapped inside bone may become osteocytes. They are stellate cells which are in contact with other osteocytes, but also with osteoblasts and bone lining cells. The osteocytes reside with structures called lacunae (**Figure 3**) and are connected to each other through structures called canaliculi. The actual osteocytes are interconnected by gap junctions [Ilvesaro et al. 2003, Shapiro 2008, Bonewald 2011].

Osteocytes secrete factors which stimulate osteoblast differentiation [Heino et al. 2002], as well as express sclerostin and fibroblast growth factor-23, which in turn affects bone dynamics. Sclerostin has been shown to cause bone lining cells to migrate, exposing

bone, and allowing osteoclasts to start remodeling cycle [Bonewald 2011, Agholme et al. 2008]. In addition, sclerostin downregulates Wnt signaling in osteoblasts, leading to decreased osteoblast activation [Miller et al. 2008].

Apoptotic osteocytes secrete RANKL, which promotes bone resorption through osteoclast activation (see below). This may be the mechanism how microdamaged bone is resorbed and subsequently replaced with new bone [Kogianni et al. 2008]. It is also speculated that osteocytes have mechanosensory functions in bone, due to their ability to sense changes in fluid flow through canalicular system [Shapiro 2008, Bonewald 2011, Klein-Nulend et al. 2003].

Bone lining cells and periosteal cells

Bone lining cells and periosteal cells are derived from osteoblastic lineage. They are flat cells which cover surfaces of bone not currently undergoing remodeling cycle. Removal of bone lining cells may trigger bone remodeling cycle as osteoclast may attach to the endosteal surface of bone [Miller et al. 1989, Everts et al. 2002, Agholme et al. 2008].

Osteoclasts

The bone-resorbing multinuclear osteoclasts belong to the monocyte/macrophage lineage and derive from haematopoietic CD14 positive progenitor cells. Mature multinuclear osteoclasts are formed by the fusion of mononuclear osteoclast progenitors [Scheven et al. 1986, Massey et al. 1999]. Dendritic-cell specific transmembrane protein is expressed in osteoclasts and macrophages, and is required for the fusion of osteoclast progenitors [Yagi et al. 2005]. During osteoclast differentiation, tartrate resistant acid phosphatase (TRACP5b) is expressed at earliest stage. This is followed by other proteins typical for osteoclasts, including calcitonin receptor and cathepsin K [Lee et al. 1995, Yuuki et al. 2010].

The two essential soluble factors required for osteoclast differentiation are receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa-beta ligand (RANKL) and macrophage colony stimulating factor (MCSF). They are mainly secreted by osteoblasts but also by other cell types [Walker 1975, Lacey et al. 1998, Yoshida et al. 1990]. The OPG/RANK/ RANKL pathway is discussed in 2.2.3.

MCSF and RANKL signaling in osteoclasts involves multiple downstream signaling pathways. The most notable pathways are PKC, Raf/MEK/ERK, P38 and NFAT1, which all are anti-apoptotic and pro-osteoclastogenic signaling pathways. These pathways, excluding P38, are shown in **Figure 2**. Concerning the current study, Raf/MEK/ERK–pathway is also regulated by Ras and NF1 as shown in **Figure 2**. [Miyazaki et al. 2000, Tiedemann et al. 2009, Lee et al. 2009].

Osteoclasts have four distinct membrane domains as shown in **Figure 4** [Väänänen et al. 2000, Mulari et al. 2003].

- The ruffled border which is the bone dissolving organelle
- Sealing zone which separates the lytic domain from its surroundings
- Functional secretory domain, through which the trancytosed resorbed material is excreted
- Basolateral domain, the domain between sealing zone and functional secretory domain

Active osteoclasts resorb bone in the subosteoclastic space. Lysosomal enzymes are re-oriented within the osteoclast towards the bone surface. Thus, the ruffled border is formed. This results in release of hydrochloric acid by vacuolar H⁺ATPase (the proton pump). In addition to acid, osteoclasts secrete enzymes such as cathepsin K and tartrate resistant acid phosphatase (TRACP5b). Cathepsin K degrades collagens, and TRACP5b dephosphorylates bone matrix proteins, such as osteopontin [Väänänen et al. 2000, Vasikaran et al. 2011]. It should also be noted, that extracellular acidosis stimulates osteoclast differentiation, which may be important in bone loss associated with hypoxia [Kato et al. 2011].

The sealing zone of osteoclasts contains bundles of F-actin, which follow the shape of the sealing zone. This forms the actin ring. Actin is associated with alfa-V-beta-3 integrins, and follows the double-ring structure of vinculin and talin. Alfa-V-beta-3 integrin is attached mostly to proteins present on bone containing RGD-sequence, such as vitronectin and osteopontin. Once the resorption at one site is over, the actin ring either moves as a kidney-shaped structure maintaining resorptive capacity of the cell, or the actin ring is dissociated [Väänänen et al. 2000, Schaffner et al. 2003].

The bone resorption in the subosteoclastic base is followed by internalization and transcytosis of degraded bone material through the osteoclast via functional secretory domain. This transport is partly regulated by Ras-related small GTPases of the rab-family [Mulari et al. 2003, Sun et al. 2005].



Figure 4. Osteoclast. BL: basolateral zone. FSD: functional secretory domain. RB: ruffled border. SZ: sealing zone.

Chondrocytes and cartilage

Chondrocytes are derived from mesenchymal stem cells. They express mainly collagen types II, IX and XI, but also types VI and X are found. Chondrocytes are present within cartilage and during endochondral bone formation [Zhao et al. 1997, Bertrand et al. 2010]. During endochondral bone formation, chondrocytes undergo hypertrophy, and

secrete factors that attract blood vessels. This in turn leads to invasion of osteoblasts into the cartilage. This is called endochondral bone formation where the cartilage is transformed into bone [Zhao et al. 1997, Colnot et al. 2004, Eyre et al. 2006].

There are three forms of cartilage; hyaline cartilage, elastic cartilage and fibrocartilage. Hyaline cartilage is found mainly in the growth plates of long bones and joints. Fibrocartilage is found in intervertebral discs, temporomandibular joint and in the menisci of the knee. Elastic cartilage is found in the epiglottis and in the Eustachian tube in the ear. Typical cartilage matrix contains type II collagen (type I also in the menisci), hyaluronan and different proteoglycans [Midura et al. 2003, Kirkham et al. 2009, Bertrand et al. 2010].

2.2.3 Regulation of bone mass

The coupled bone resorption and mineralization cycle

Bone mass is regulated by constant cross-talk between bone resorbing osteoclasts and bone forming osteoblasts. The modeling process is initiated when bone lining cells or osteoblasts uncover trabecular or endosteal bone surface, allowing osteoclasts to attach the bone. This is followed by bone resorption as described in the osteoclast section above. The resorption results in formation of resorption pits or lacunae (Howship's lacunae). Osteoblasts move towards the pit and start forming new bone. Freshly formed bone is called osteoid which is subsequently mineralized into mature bone [Novack et al. 2008, Martin et al. 2005]. Resorption part of the resorption cycle by osteoclasts takes in humans approximately 6-12 days, while formation of new bone in the same area 3-4 weeks [Eriksen et al. 1984a, Eriksen et al. 1984b]. This is traditionally considered to result in the formation of a new osteon.

Bone remodeling is coupled, which means that increased osteoclast activity (resorption) is followed by increased bone remodeling by osteoblasts, and vice versa [Miller et al. 2008]. This explains why osteoporotic patients usually have increased serum bone formation markers in addition to increased bone resorption markers, and why antiresorptive therapy results in decrease of bone formation markers.

Regulation of bone turnover

The main modulators of bone turnover are shown in **Figure 5**. The effects of parathyroid hormone, estrogens, glucocorticoids, vitamin D and sclerostin are mediated via the OPG/RANK/RANKL signaling through osteoblasts [Miller et al. 2008, Trouvin et al. 2010, Yuuki et al. 2010]. The inflammatory cytokines, including TNF-alfa, interleukine 1 beta and 6, affect osteoclastogenesis directly [Teitelbaum et al. 2007, Axmann et al. 2009, Trouvin et al. 2010].





OPG/RANK/RANKL -the main regulator of resorption cycle

The key regulator of the resorption cycle is the OPG/RANK/RANKL system. Soluble RANKL binds to its receptor RANK, which is present on the cell membrane of osteoclasts. This induces osteoclastogenesis. Osteoprotegerin (OPG) is soluble factor secreted mainly by osteoblasts, but also many other cell types. OPG is a decoy receptor for RANKL, thus reducing the concentration of soluble RANKL. Since RANKL is required for osteoclast maturation, OPG secretion reduces bone resorption [Trouvin et al. 2010].

Fas-receptors and Sclerostin

Fas-receptors are death receptors located on cell surface of many cell types, including osteoblasts and osteoclasts. Fas-receptor activation may trigger cell apoptosis [Yuuki et al. 2010]. This is particularly important in estrogen-mediated control of bone turnover (see below).

Sclerostin has been shown to cause bone lining cells to migrate, exposing bone, and allowing osteoclasts to start remodeling cycle [Bonewald 2011, Agholme et al. 2008]. In addition, sclerostin downregulates Wnt signaling in osteoblasts, leading to decreased osteoblast activation [Miller et al. 2008].

Serum calcium

Calcium does not regulate bone turnover, but bone turnover is an important part in maintaining the levels of serum calcium. Thus, abnormal serum calcium results in a variety of reactions concerning bone (**Figure 6**). Calcium is gained by absorption from the gut, and lost by excretion in the urine. Excess serum calcium is deposited in the bone, and may be subsequently released from the bone [Landry et al. 2010].



Figure 6. Regulation of serum calcium. The figure shows responses to low levels of serum calcium. Responses to high levels of serum calcium are the opposite.

Parathyroid hormone

Parathyroid hormone (PTH) has 84 aminoacids and is a bone anabolic hormone regardless of the fact that it stimulates bone resorption. PTH is secreted by parathyroid glands in response to low levels of serum calcium or vitamin D. Secondary hyperparathyreoidism is a response to low levels of vitamin D. In the kidneys PTH enhances reabsorption of calcium and improves activation of vitamin D [Landry et al. 2010, Rachner et al. 2010]. PTH decreases OPG expression and increases RANKL expression in osteoblasts and bone marrow stromal cells. Thus parathyroid hormone increases bone resorption and levels of serum calcium [Rachner et al. 2010, Trouvin et al. 2010]. However, PTH also stimulates bone formation, and PTH therapy results in increased bone mass and reduced fracture risk, as described in 2.3.5 [Compston et al. 2007, Gallacher et al. 2010].

Vitamin D

In this text vitamin D means vitamin D2 ergocalciferol (plant origin) or vitamin D3 cholecalciferol (animal origin). The structure of vitamin D is shown in **Figure 7**. Unhydroxylated form of vitamin D is synthesized from cholesterol in the skin as a result of exposure to ultraviolet radiation from the sun. Vitamin D is furthermore hydroxylated to 25OH-vitamin D, the storage form, in the liver and 1,25OH-vitamin D, the active form, in the kidneys. Vitamin D increases absorption of calcium from the intestine, enhances reabsorption of calcium in the kidneys and increases bone resorption rate. Thus vitamin D increases levels of serum calcium. Vitamin D is acquired from the diet but is also synthesized from cholesterol [Bouillon et al. 2006, Rachner et al. 2010, Landry et al. 2011].



Figure 7. Structure of vitamin D. Carbons 1 and 25 are hydroxylated during activation of the molecule [Modified from Bouillon 2006].

Low levels of vitamin D leads to increased secretion of parathyroid hormone, leading to secondary hyperparathyroidism. Vitamin D also directly enhances osteoblast maturation and increase RANKL expression in osteoblasts [Jensen et al. 2010, Rachner et al. 2010]. In NF1, low levels of serum vitamin D have been reported, also in NF1 children [Lammert et al. 2006, Brunetti-Pierri et al. 2008, Tucker et al. 2009, Stevenson et al. 2011c].

Estrogens

In humans estrogens include estrone, the main estrogen estradiol, and estriol which is present during pregnancy. Estrogen deficiency is a well-known cause of reduced BMD and is characterized by high bone turnover, ie. high bone resorption and low bone formation [Yuuki et al. 2010, Nelson 2008]. Thus estrogens are considered as osteoprotective hormones.

This phenomenon can be modeled with ovariectomized rodents which develop osteoporotic phenotype. Estrogen binds to estrogen receptors alfa and beta, which are nuclear receptors. When estrogen receptor alfa is conditionally deleted in murine osteoclasts, both male and female mice have reduced bone mineral density. In addition it has been speculated that estrogen has an ability to increase Fas-ligand expression in both osteoclasts and osteoblasts, thus slowing the bone remodeling. Fas-receptors are death receptors that may trigger cell apoptosis. Estrogen receptor beta has more profound antagonist effects on bone than alfa [Yuuki et al. 2010]. However, female mice with all estrogen receptors genetically deleted do not display the expected osteoporotic phenotype, most likely due to over-production of testosterone [Yuuki et al. 2010].

In humans, estrogen is known to increase OPG expression and decrease RANKL expression in osteoblasts. Thus, estrogen decreases bone resorption to maintain the bone mass. During menopause, the reduced levels of estrogen leads to increased bone resorption and bone loss [Riggs 2000, Bord et al. 2003]. Similar findings are also noted in men aged 70 or more, since androgens are partially converted to estradiol [Ebeling 2010].

Androgens

The main androgen in humans is testosterone, which is further converted to dihydrotestosterone. Aromatase enzyme converts testosterone to estradiol, thus also

osteoprotective effects of estradiol are observed in men. Androgen receptors are expressed in osteocytes and osteoblasts, but not apparently in osteoclasts. It is known that reduced levels of serum androgens lead to reduced BMD. This mechanism is most likely mediated via osteoblasts. Low levels of testosterone are also associated with increased fracture risk [Ebeling 2010].

Calcitonin

Calcitonin is a peptide hormone secreted by parafollicular C cells within the thyroid gland. It is secreted in response to high levels of serum calcium. Calcitonin inhibits bone resorption by rapidly inhibiting osteoclast function through the calcitonin receptor. This results in dissociation of actin rings, representatives of active osteoclasts [Väänänen et al. 2000, Henriksen et al. 2010].

Glucocorticoids and glucocorticoid medication

Glucocorticoids are steroid hormones secreted by the adrenal cortex in response to various stimuli, such as stress. The most of glucocorticoid-mediated bone effects are seen in patients on glucocorticoid medication. The medication is often prescribed for example to rheumatoid diseases or lung diseases. Systemically taken glucocorticoid medication lasting over a month with any dose has an effect on bone turnover, while inhaled glucocorticoids seldom have any effect on bone turnover. Glucocorticoids are known to suppress osteoblast function, and increase bone resorption [Compston et al. 2009, Mazziotti et al. 2010, Rachner et al. 2010]. Glucocorticoid therapy leads to reduced BMD and increased risk of fractures in 30-50 % of patients taking these drugs [Mazziotti et al. 2010].

2.2.4 Bone turnover markers and their clinical use

Overview

Bone turnover markers (BTMs) are divided into bone resorption and formation markers, and several of them are described here. Bone resorption markers include C- and N-terminal cross-linking telopeptides of type I collagen (CTX, NTX), tartrate resistant acid phosphatase (TRACP5b), pyridinoline and deoxypyridinoline. Bone formation markers include alkaline phosphatase, osteocalcin and procollagen type 1 N-terminal propeptide (PINP). Like all laboratory measurements, these are affected by age, gender, medication and pregnancy of the patients. Additionally, BTMs are markedly affected by circadian rhythm and fasting status. Levels of BTMs are markedly reduced after food intake regardless of the type of food ingested. Thus all BTM samples should be taken in the morning after an overnight fast [Vasikaran et al. 2011]. Bone resorption and formation markers are coupled, ie. rise in bone resorption is usually followed by rise in levels of bone formation markers, and vice versa [Miller et al. 2008, Vasikaran et al. 2011].

Use of bone turnover markers in osteoporosis

The upper limit of premenopausal BTM values is used as a cut-off point for determining elevated BTM value. BTM levels have been shown to associate with the rate of bone loss. An increase in BTMs is associated with an increased risk of hip and other fractures in women aged 75 or more [Chopin et al. 2012].

Type I collagen synthesis in bone

To understand bone turnover markers it is crucial to understand type I collagen synthesis in bone. Procollagen type I is secreted by osteoblasts during bone formation (see PINP). The C- and N-terminal regions are cleaved from the procollagen type I, forming type I collagen. Type I collagen molecule is a triple helical protein, composed of two alfa1polypeptide and one alfa2-polypeptide chains. The molecule contains gaps between collagen molecules, specifically their C- and N-terminal ends, respectively. Specific cross-links are found between these gaps, such as C- and N-terminal telopeptides (see CTX and NTX). These gaps are located within the collagen fibril. Cross-links are also found between alfa1 and alfa2 chains, such as pyridinoline and deoxypyridinoline which are described below [Civitelli et al. 2009, Coulibaly et al. 2010, Vasikaran et al. 2011].

CTX and NTX

CTX is C-terminal cross-linking beta-telopeptide of type I collagen, which is cleaved from type I collagen by cathepsin K, which is secreted by osteoclasts. It is used as an indicator of bone resorption, and is also in clinical use for the estimation of the catabolic rate of bone [Christgau et al. 1998, Vasikaran et al. 2011]. Food intake markedly decreases serum levels of CTX. Also the history of fractures affects the levels of serum CTX [Qvist et al. 2002, Ivaska et al. 2007]. CTX can also be measured from the urine. However, urine CTX must be adjusted for urine kreatinine, and the within subject variability is approximately twice as high compared to serum samples [Chopin et al. 2012]. Methods for the corresponding N-terminal telopeptide (NTX) are also available. The alfa-1 chain of type I collagen undergoes beta-isomerization as an age-dependent process. Thus, the ratio of alfa/beta-CTX can be used to estimate the amount of freshly formed and old bone, respectively [Civitelli et al. 2009].

ICTP

ICTP or MMP-CTX is a degradation product of type I collagen. ICTP is cleaved by matrix metalloproteinases, unlike CTX and NTX which are cleaved by protease cathepsin K. It appears that serum ICTP is not often affected by pharmaceutical therapy of osteoporosis, and thus is a poor bone turnover marker [Vasikaran et al. 2011].

Pyridinoline and deoxypyridinoline

Pyridinoline and deoxypyridinoline are produced during maturation of type I collagen, and subsequently released into circulation during bone resorption. Pyridinoline and

deoxypyridinoline are also released from cartilage. They can be measured from the urine and are used to estimate the catabolic rate of bone [Vasikaran et al. 2011].

TRACP5b

Tartrate resistant acid phosphatase (TRACP) has two isoforms. TRACP5a is found in platelets and red blood cells, while TRACP5b is secreted by osteoclasts in order to dephosphorylate bone proteins, such as osteopontin [Andersson et al. 2003, Civitelli et al. 2009]. Thus serum TRACP5b is a marker of osteoclast activity. It does not measure actual bone resorption [Vasikaran et al. 2011].

PINP

Serum procollagen type I N-terminal propeptide (PINP) is a marker of bone formation. PINP is formed through posttranslational cleavage of type I procollagen. Since type I procollagen is secreted by osteoblasts during bone formation, PINP is a marker of osteoblast activity [Civitelli et al. 2009, Vasikaran et al. 2011].

Alkaline phosphatase

Alkaline phosphatases are mainly derived from liver and bone in roughly equal amounts. Thus, bone-specific alkaline phosphatase assays have been developed. Bone specific alkaline phosphatase is expressed in osteoblasts, and the phosphatase is required for bone mineralization [Civitelli et al. 2009].

Osteocalcin

Osteocalcin is a bone matrix protein, which is produced by osteoblasts during bone formation. It can be measured from urine or serum. Osteocalcin is rapidly degraded, and thus methods are designed to measure both intact and fragmented osteocalcin. It is a bone formation marker [Vasikaran et al. 2011].

2.3 OSTEOPOROSIS

2.3.1 Pathoethiology of osteoporosis

Definition and prevalence of osteoporosis

WHO defines osteoporosis as a systemic skeletal disorder, which includes reduced bone mass, altered bone architecture and increased fracture risk. The diagnostic criteria of osteoporosis were revised by International Society for Clinical Densitometry in 2008 [NIH 2001, Lewiecki et al. 2008]. It is difficult to estimate prevalence of osteoporosis, as osteoporosis becomes more frequent in older age. In addition, people live longer lives, making estimations difficult. Approximately 40 % of postmenopausal Caucasian women have osteoporosis [Rachner et al. 2010]. In Netherlands age-adjusted prevalence

of osteoporosis is 12 % for men and 29 % for women, reaching up to 36 % in men and 57 % in women over 80 years of age [Schuit et al. 2003]. In Finland it is estimated that 6 % of women aged 40-50 have osteoporosis, and this increases to 9 % in 10 years of follow-up due to menopause [Alhava 2004]. In Europe, it has been estimated that 3.8 million osteoporotic fractures occurred in year 2000 [Reginster 2011].

Risk factors for low BMD

Genetics and gender

Peak bone mass is reached during puberty, and genetic factors determine roughly 70-80 % of the peak bone mass. Therefore a marked proportion of the risk for low BMD and osteoporosis are explained by genetic factors. In addition, genetic association in fracture risk has been demonstrated. This is partially explained by genetic association for low BMD [Bonjour et al. 1991, Eisman 1999]. For example, patients whose parents have suffered a hip fracture are at elevated risk of fracture themselves, suggesting genetic predisposition to fractures [Compston et al. 2009]. Men acquire higher peak bone mass. This is most likely due to higher levels of serum androgens. Also the estrogen induces earlier closure of the growth plates in girls compared to boys, leading to longer bones with higher bone mass in men [Ebeling 2010].

Age

In older age, the bone remodeling is slowed. This leads to slower resorption of bone, and even slower formation of new bone (the coupling effect). This leads to reduced BMD [Szulc et al. 2009]. Bone mass is even more dramatically lowered during menopause in women, since the levels of circulating estrogen decrease. Similar more rapid decrease in bone mass is observed in 70-year old men [Ebeling 2010].

Medical conditions and drug-induced osteoporosis

Many medical conditions and medications are associated with increased risk for osteoporosis (**Table 4**). Malabsorption diseases and bowel diseases, such as inflammatory bowel diseases and celiac disease, are associated with reduced calcium and vitamin D intake, and thus predispose to osteoporosis. Hypogonadism affect circulating levels of sex hormones, which are discussed in 2.2.3. Hyperthyroidism accelerates bone turnover leading to reduced BMD. In addition, rheumatoid arthritis, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and chronic liver failure are associated with low BMD and increased fracture risk, partially due to medication of these conditions [Lane 2006, Compston et al. 2009].

Several medical conditions require medication, which may cause drug-induced osteoporosis. Multiple drugs are known to induce osteoporosis, especially glucocorticoids, hormonal therapy, some diabetes type 2 drugs, anticonvulsants, anticoagulants and loop diuretics [Mazziotti et al. 2010]. Effects of glucocorticoids, estrogens and androgens are described above. Drug-induced osteoporosis occurs also in premenopausal women

and in men, and fractures may occur at higher BMD values than in postmenopausal osteoporosis. Thus it is recommended that drug-induced osteoporosis, especially glucocorticoid-induced, should be treated when T-score is -1.5 SD or lower [Mazziotti et al. 2010].

Table 4. Selected known causes of secondary osteoporosis [Modified from Compston et al. 2009,Mazziotti et al. 2010].

| Causes of secondary osteoporosis | Medication known to cause osteoporosis | |
|--|--|--|
| Rheumatoid arthritis | Glucocorticoids | |
| Hypogonadism | Anti-estrogen or anti-testosterone therapy | |
| Diabetes type I | Anticonvulsants | |
| Hyperthyroidism | Anticoagulants | |
| Gastrointestinal diseases | Diabetes type II drugs | |
| Chronic liver disease | Loop diuretics | |
| Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease | | |
| Malnutrition | | |
| Anorexia | | |
| Excess smoking and alcohol consumption | | |
| Chronic kidney disease | | |

Behavior

Smoking is associated with accelerated bone loss, possibly due to direct toxic effects and reduced calcium absorption from the gut. High alcohol consumption is associated with reduced BMD. Certain types of physical activity have a small but important impact on BMD and fracture risk. Best types of physical exercise were walking, jogging, jumping and Tai Chi. Also improved muscle strength due to exercise reduces the risk of falling. Adequate dietary sources of both calcium and vitamin D are necessary for healthy skeleton [Lane 2006, Järvinen et al. 2008, Howe et al. 2011].

2.3.2 Diagnosis of osteoporosis

Clinically osteoporosis is diagnosed by measuring the bone mineral density (BMD) using dual energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA). However, osteoporosis does not automatically mean medication, as described in 2.3.4. Therefore, DXA scans are recommended for patients who could benefit from the medication for osteoporosis. Indications for DXA scan are (see 2.3.4 for risk factors) [Lewiecki et al. 2008]:

- Women over 65 years with at least 1 risk factor
- Men over 70 years with at least 1 risk factor
- Patients with medical condition or medication known to affect bone

T- and Z-scores are calculated from DXA scans, which use a reference population. Currently used reference population is the 3^{rd} national health and nutrition survey
(NHANES III) consisting of 20-29 year old women. T-scores are calculated in relation to this reference population, where persons with BMD lower than 2.5 SD from the average are considered to have osteoporosis. On the other hand, T-score -2.5 SD represents approximately a 25 % decrease in bone mass. Z-scores are furthermore adjusted to age and sex-matched subjects. Further adjustment can be made using database of the same nationality [Watts et al. 2004, Lewiecki et al. 2008].

DXA scans are affected by multiple factors. DXA equipment should be calibrated for correct sex, age and ethnicity. The X-ray beam and the patient must be positioned in standard position, and appropriate analysis software must be used. Diagnostic region of interest is the femoral neck. In patients older than 50 years also lumbar spine, total hip or distal radius BMD can be measured. BMD of distal radius should be measured from the non-dominant hand. Lumbar spine is measured from vertebrae L1 to L4, using the average value. Individual vertebrae may be excluded if marked deviation from average lumbar spine value is found [Watts et al. 2004, Lewiecki et al. 2008].

In adults, T-score -2.5 SD and below is considered as osteoporosis when measured from the locations described above. In adults younger than 50 years, also the Z-score must be -2.0 SD or less. T-scores between -1.0 SD and -2.5 SD are considered as osteopenia [NIH 2001, Lewiecki et al. 2008].

In children, age-matched Z-score -2.0 SD and history of marked fractures are considered as osteoporosis. Marked osteoporotic fractures in children are fractures of long bones (one in lower limbs or two in upper limbs), or a vertebral fracture. It is also suggested that the term osteopenia should not be used in children [Lewiecki et al. 2008].

Quantitative computer tomography and quantitative ultrasound are also used to assess bone quality. However, low BMD assessed by these methods should be verified by central DXA measurement. Quantitative ultrasound from the heel region is a good method for population screening as it doesn't involve the use of X-rays [Lewiecki et al. 2008].

2.3.3 Fracture risk in osteoporosis



Figure 8. Determinants of fracture risk.

Fracture risk

Fracture risk is composed of bone strength, trauma energy and risk of fall (**Figure 8**). Trauma energy means for example motor vehicle accident versus a fall on level. Bone strength includes BMD and bone quality, while BMD is discussed above [Kanis et al. 2002, Järvinen et al. 2008, Reginster 2011].

Bone quality

Bone quality is determined by micro-architecture, mineralization, geometry and accumulation of damage to bone. Bone quality is an important factor in addition to bone mineral density (BMD), when the bone health is assessed. However, bone quality is clinically difficult to determine, while BMD is easy to measure [Gallacher et al. 2010]. Bone microarchtiecture is determined as width, number and spatial organization of bone trabeculae, and can be assessed by histomorphometry (bone biopsy) or modern computerized imaging methods [Dalle et al. 2005]. It is speculated that osteocytes maintain the microarchitectural organization of bone, which is arranged to withstand the load on the bone [Shapiro 2008, Bonewald 2011, Klein-Nulend et al. 2003].

Risk to fall

It is also important to remember that in addition to bone quality and BMD, fracture risk is affected by the risk to fall. Poor vision, balance and muscle strength, impaired cognition, and certain medical conditions predispose to falls and thus to fractures. These are especially important factors in the elderly people [Lane 2006, Järvinen et al. 2008].

Fracture risk and osteoporosis - the target of treatment

Osteoporotic fractures include fractures of wrist, spine and hip, but also trochanteric, humerus and rib fractures are considered as osteoporotic fractures [Rachner et al. 2010]. BMD alone is a poor predictor of fracture risk. It is estimated that from all types of fractures considered as osteoporotic fractures, such as wrist fractures, only a minority of fracture patients had osteoporosis, while approximately half of the fracture patients had osteopenia. In other words, majority of actual fractures occur in patients with osteopenia. However, the relative risk of having a fracture increases when BMD becomes lower, and therefore osteoporosis should be treated [Siris et al. 2004]. On the contrary, increase in BMD only is not associated with reduced risk of fracture [Roux et al. 2005]. Thus, other parameters in addition to BMD are required to assess fracture risk.

FRAX is a computer program designed to assess individual's risk for having a major osteoporotic fracture within the next 10 years, and thus guides clinician to select which patients to treat [Kanis et al. 2002, Rachner et al. 2010]. The calculation is based on femoral neck or total hip BMD and then a list of risk factors including age, body mass index, prior fragility fracture, parental history of hip fracture, smoking, alcohol, steroid usage and history of rheumatoid arthritis. For example, patient with T-score -2.5SD and aged 50 has a smaller risk of having an osteoporotic fracture than similar patient aged 80

(Figure 9). This risk is further modified by other risk factors for fracture. Fracture risk of 10 % is considered as a high risk. FRAX does not take into account the risk of falling (see above) and is not suitable for patients who are treated with antiresorptives or bone anabolic therapy [Kanis et al. 2002, Kanis et al. 2009].



Figure 9. Ten-year hip fracture probability in Swedish women based on age and BMD [Modified from Kanis et al. 2002].

2.3.4 Treatment guidelines of osteoporosis

Treatment of osteoporosis should include fall prevention, lifestyle advice (smoking, alcohol), appropriate calcium and vitamin D supplementation and weight-bearing exercise [Compston et al. 2009, Reginster 2011]. In addition, antiresorptive therapy should be offered to patients with osteoporosis and additional risk factors. At least two risk factors for fracture support the start of osteoporosis medication. These risk factors include:

- Age 60 years or older
- Body mass index 19 kg/m² or less
- Previous osteoporotic fracture
- Parental history of hip fracture, reflecting genetic background of low BMD
- Current smoking, glucocorticoid treatment (any dose for at least 1 month) or high alcohol consumption
- High risk of fall
- Immobility
- Multiple other medical conditions known to affect bone, see Table 4

2.3.5 Current strategies to reduce the fracture risk

Non-pharmaceutical therapy of low BMD focuses on removing risk factors for fractures. This includes stopping of smoking, reduction of alcohol consumption, more physical exercise (see 2.3.1), and adequate supplementation of both calcium and vitamin D [Rachner et al. 10, Lane 2006]. Recommended daily doses for calcium for adolescents

are at least 500-1300mg and 600-800 IU (15-20 micrograms) for vitamin D [Compston et al. 2009, Rachner et al. 2010, Abrams et al. 2011]. Since most of osteoporotic fractures are caused by falls, it is important to reduce risk to fall, for example by improving muscle strength, vision and balance.

Pharmaceutical therapies have been designed to increase BMD. Patients with osteoporosis who are treated with osteoporosis drugs (**Table 5**) have usually their fracture risk reduced. However, BMD changes are not necessarily correlated with reduction in the risk of fracture. Thus the bone turnover markers are used. Generally, BMD correlates with bone turnover markers, such as serum CTX and PINP [Melton et al. 1997, Reginster et al. 2001, Vasikaran et al. 2011]. Bone turnover markers can be used to monitor efficacy of osteoporosis treatment and reduction in BTM is associated with reduced fracture risk. However, BTMs cannot be used to predict fractures in individual subjects [Brown et al. 2009, Vasikaran et al. 2011].

| Antiresorptives | Туре | Administration | Dose |
|-----------------------|----------------------|-------------------------|----------------------|
| Alendronate | N-Bisphoshonate | Oral | Weekly 70 mg |
| Risendronate | N-Bisphoshonate | Oral | Weekly 35 mg |
| Ibandronate | N-Bisphoshonate | Oral (also intravenous) | Monthly 150 mg |
| Zoledronic acid | N-Bisphoshonate | Intravenous | Annually 5 mg |
| Clodronate | Non-N-Bisphosphonate | Oral | not recommended |
| Etidronate | Non-N-Bisphosphonate | Oral | not recommended |
| Calcitonin | Hormone | Nasal spray | Daily 200 IU |
| Denosumab | Antibody | Subcutaneous injection | Every 6 months 60 mg |
| Hormone replacement | Hormone | Varies | Varies |
| therapy | | | |
| Raloxifene | SERM | Oral | Daily 60 mg |
| Lasofoxifene | SERM | Oral | In phase III |
| Tibolone | Hormone | Oral | Daily 1.25 mg |
| Bone anabolics | | | |
| Teriparatide | Hormone | Subcutaneous injection | Daily 20 µg |
| Strontium ranelate | Mineral | Oral | Daily 2 g |

Table 5. Selected pharmaceuticals for osteoporosis in 2011 [Henriksen et al. 2010, Eastell et al.2010, Rachner et al. 2011].

Bisphosphonates

Bisphosphonates (BPs) are designed to treat postmenopausal osteoporosis in women and also osteoporosis in men. Most commonly clinically used BPs are shown in **Table 5**. Non-amino-BPs are the older drugs, and amino-BPs the newer drugs with more available clinical data. Structure of bisphosphonates is shown in **Figure 10**. Recommended duration for BP treatment is 5 years, as the drug accumulates to bone and the suppression of bone turnover continues after stopping the therapy [Miller et al. 2008, Gallachan et al. 2010]. **Figure 10**. Structure of bisphosphonate. R1 is a hydroxyl group, except in clodronate where it is a chloride. R2 varies according to the drug [Modified from Halasy-Nagy et al. 2001].

Bisphosphonates listed in **Table 5** have number needed to treat (NNT) values between 14 and 21 for vertebral fractures in three years. This means that 14 to 21 patients should take the drug for three years to prevent one vertebral fracture from occurring. The respective NNT for hip fractures is 91 [Reginster 2011]. Alendronate therapy reduces the risk for vertebral and non-vertebral fractures in osteoporotic patients. In patients without osteoporosis, only vertebral fractures were prevented. Similar effects are seen with other BPs [Wells et al. 2008, Miller et al. 2008, Gallacher et al. 2010].

BP therapy reduces bone resorption markers, followed by reduction in bone formation markers due to coupling of bone remodeling. Average reduction in serum CTX in postmenopausal women is roughly 50 % after three-month therapy of oral alendronate 70 mg/week. This is though subject to a lot of variation [Rosen et al. 2004, Saag et al. 2007, Brown et al. 2009].

Patients treated with BPs gain more bone mass as estimated by bone biopsies [Gallacher et al. 2010]. This effect is also seen using DXA scans and the patients have their BMD increased. BMD increases using alendronate in postmenopausal women approximately +5 % in 12 months [Tonino et al. 2000, Rodan et al. 2004, Rosen et al. 2004]. However, BMD changes are not correlated with reduction in risk of fracture [Roux et al. 2004].

Children with osteogenesis imperfecta, a rare disease of fragile bones, may be treated with bisphosphonates, such as zoledronic acid. However, study cohorts of children with osteogenesis imperfecta are small, but zoledronic acid appears to be effective and safe drug in children. Growth curves of these children were not affected by zoledronic acid [Brown and Zacharin 2009].

When taken orally, only 1-2 % of the drug is absorbed from the gut. Thus BPs should be taken on empty stomach [Reginster 2011]. Bisphosphonates are designed to bind to bone, which is subsequently resorbed by osteoclasts. BPs enter the osteoclast killing these cells, leading to slower bone remodeling allowing the bone to mineralize properly. BPs inhibit bone resorption due their ability to bind to Ca^{2+} ions [Sato et al. 1991, Fujita et al. 2005]. Half of the drug binds instantly to bone and half is excreted in the urine [Miller et al. 2008]. Subsequently the bone is resorbed by osteoclasts, and the BPs enter the osteoclast via fluid-phase mediated endocytosis [Thompson et al. 2006]. In cell culture experiments, BPs reduce the number of both osteoclasts and resorption pits [Selander et al. 1994, Kellinsalmi et al. 2005, Coxon et al. 2008]. There are two types of BPs; amino and non-amino-BPs. Non-amino-BPs generate toxic analogues of ATP which disrupt the function of mitochondria, leading to osteoclast apoptosis [Reszka et al. 2003, Rogers 2003]. Amino-BPs inhibit farnesyldiphosphate syntase, interfering with posttranslational modification (isoprenylation) of small GTPases including Ras, Rac and Rho. This causes the membrane-bound small GTPases to relocate into cytosol. This in turn leads to reduced ERK-pathway signaling, which is a downstream mediator of Ras. This leads to mitochondrial membrane depolarization, activation of caspase cascade, and ultimately to osteoclast death [Fujita et al. 2005, Bergstrom et al. 2000, Dunford et al. 2006]. BPs inhibit bone resorption also through mechanisms independent of apoptosis, such as disruption of actin rings [Halasy-Nagy et al. 2001].

Adverse effects of BP therapy

Like all drugs, also BPs have adverse effects. Most common are gastrointestinal discomfort and influenza-like symptoms. Rare complications are the osteonecrosis of jaws and atypical fractures. Osteonecrosis of jaws is associated with intravenous zoledronic acid treatment, and is either sclerotic or lytic lesion. Bone microcracks and atypical fractures, such as subtrochanteric femoral fractures, are associated with alendronate therapy lasting over 5 years, but are rare compared to incidence of osteoporotic fractures [Abrahamsen 2010, Gallacher et al. 2010]. Atrial fibrillation is also a possible side-effect of zoledronic acid [Miller et al. 2008].

Bisphosphonates and other cell types

It has been shown, that in addition to osteoclasts, some cancer cells take up bisphosphonates. This triggers the expression of several phosphoantigens on the surface of certain cancer cells, especially in estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer cells. It has been postulated that bisphosphonates may have anti-tumor effects [Hamilton et al. 2011]. There is also some evidence that bisphosphonates may have anti-apoptotic effects in osteoblasts and osteocytes [Miller et al. 2008].

Denosumab

Denosumab is injected subcutaneously every six months. Denosumab is a human monoclonal antibody for RANKL. It thus reduces the amount of soluble RANKL mimicking the effects of OPG. This results in reduced activation of OPG/RANK/ RANKL signaling between osteoclasts and osteoblasts, inhibiting development and activation of osteoclasts. This in turn leads to reduced bone resorption, increased BMD and reduction in levels of BTMs after denosumab therapy. These effects on bone are more profound with denosumab compared to bisphosphonates [Cummings et al. 2009, Eastell et al. 2011]. The effect on vertebral fracture prevention is similar between BPs and Denosumab (NNT 14-21). A slight but statistically significant preventive effect on hip fractures was observed (0.7 % versus 1.2 %), resulting in NNT value of ~300. Thus, the actual preventive effect of denosumab is currently under debate [Reginster 2011].

Calcitonin

Calcitonin is available as nasal spray, and salmon calcitonin is used. Calcitonin rapidly inhibits osteoclast function. Calcitonin therapy reduces levels of CTX, increases BMD of the patients, and reduces the risk for vertebral fractures. In addition, calcitonin has a small but notable analgesic effect [Miller et al. 2008, Henriksen et al. 2010].

Hormone replacement therapy and SERMs

The primary indication of hormone replacement therapy (HRT) is to treat menopausal symptoms, and HRT consists of supplemental estrogen and progestin therapy. Since estrogen is a bone-beneficial hormone and levels of serum estrogen decrease during menopause, HRT may be used to treat and prevent osteoporosis in menopausal women. However, HRT is associated with increased risk of breast and uterine cancer and deep venous thrombosis. Thus HRT is not licensed for prevention of osteoporosis as a first line-treatment, even though HRT has been shown to actually prevent osteoporosis and decrease fracture risk. Due to various adverse effects, the start of HRT must be considered carefully [Miller et al. 2007, Palacios 2008].

Because HRT is associated with severe adverse effects, selective estrogen receptor modulators (SERMs) are designed to mimic estrogen and cause either antagonist or agonist effects depending on the target tissue. Currently used SERMs are tamoxifen (no bone effects), raloxifene and lasofoxifene. SERMs are primarily designed to treat estrogen receptor positive breast cancer, but raloxifene and lasofoxifene are also approved for treatment of osteoporosis in postmenopausal women. Raloxifene therapy reduced levels of BTMs, increases BMD and reduces fracture risk, and is also beneficial in treatment of breast cancer [Miller et al. 2008, Bolognese 2010].

Tibolone

Tibolone is a progestin analogue which has also androgen effect on bone metabolism. It is licenced for prevention and treatment of postmenopausal osteoporosis. It increases BMD better than raloxifene [Miller et al. 2008].

Parathyroid hormone analogues

Teriparatide is a human recombinant parathyroid hormone analogue consisting amino acids 1-34 (PTH1-34). Also physiological PTH1-84 is used in some countries. Teriparatide is a bone anabolic drug, which results in increased bone remodeling, most likely due osteoblast activation. This is mediated via decreased OPG and increased RANKL secretion. This osteoblast modulation results in increased resorption, but rather surprisingly leads also to increased BMD. Both bone formation and bone resorption markers are increased during teriparatide therapy, and the therapy results in increased bone mass [Dobnig et al. 2005, Gallacher et al. 2010] and reduced fracture risk. Reduction in fracture risk is slightly better with Teriparatide (NNT 12) compared to bisphosphonates (NNT 14-21) [Neer et al. 2001, Reginster 2011]. The effects of teriparatide to bone

health are more profound than of alendronate [Gallacher et al. 2010]. However, if PTH is given continuously, it has catabolic effect on bone [Compston et al. 2007].

Strontium ranelate

Strontium ranelate has both bone anabolic and antiresorptive characteristics. The detailed mechanism of how strontium ranelate affects remains unclear. Strontium resembles calcium ions, and is conjugated to ranelic acid carrier. It has been speculated that the effects of strontium are mediated via reduced bone resorption and increased bone remodeling. Some studies show an increase in BTMs, while others show a decrease or no change at all. However, patients taking strontium have reduced risk of fractures compared to placebo [Gallacher et al. 2010, Reginster 2011].

3 AIMS OF THE CURRENT STUDY

The purpose of this study was to evaluate bone health and osteoporosis in patients with NF1. The specific aims were as follows:

- 1. To evaluate the dimensions of craniofacial bones between patients with NF1 and control persons using lateral X-rays of the skull
- 2. Characterize osteoclasts derived from peripheral blood samples of NF1 patients and healthy controls under laboratory conditions
- 3. The findings on osteoclasts in study II expanded this study to further evaluate how NF1-osteoclasts respond to bisphosphonates, drugs designed to cause osteoclast apoptosis
- 4. Assess the frequency of osteoporosis in Finnish NF1 patients
- 5. To evaluate possible changes in bone mineral density of NF1 patients, whose bone mineral density was remeasured 12 years after the initial study in 1999
- 6. To evaluate the fracture risk in NF1 by screening the medical records in a controlled register-based study

4 MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.1 RECRUITMENT OF PATIENTS WITH NF1 AND CONTROLS (I-V)

NF1 cephalometry study (I)

For study I the 85 patients were recruited from the NF clinic at the Department of Dermatology, Turku University Hospital, as well as among the members of the Finnish NF Society, during years 2005-2010. Ethical approval was obtained from the Ethics Committee of Southwest Finland Hospital District, Turku, Finland. Age and sex-matched controls were randomly selected from a group of healthy Finnish school children and adults from Oulu, Finland, who voluntarily took part in the cephalometric examination. An ethical approval to collect and use the control material for research was obtained from the Ethical Board of Oulu University Hospital, Oulu, Finland. The detailed information can be found in study I.

NF1 and bone health study (II,III)

For studies II and III the patients were recruited from patients attending the NF clinic at the Department of Dermatology, Turku University Hospital. Patients were enrolled to the study also via Finnish NF Society. The 17 patients for study II were recruited during years 2005-2009, and the 21 patients for study III between 2009 and 2011. There was some overlap between studies II and III. Age and sex-matched controls were healthy volunteers recruited from Turku University personnel. All participants gave their written consent. Ethical approval was obtained from the Ethics Committee of Southwest Finland Hospital District, Turku, Finland. The detailed information can be found in studies II and III.

BMD 12 years after study (IV)

Study IV was based on a cohort of 35 patients with NF1 who were examined by Kuorilehto et al. in 1999 [Kuorilehto et al. 2005]. Now the same group of 35 patients with NF1 was approached via a letter, and were invited to the current study. This resulted in 28 patients who took part in the study, and 19 of them visited Oulu University Hospital, Oulu, Finland. Patients were examined during the year 2011. Detailed information can be found on study IV.

Fracture risk in NF1 study (V)

A computerized search for all patients with ICD-10 diagnosis Q85.0 was performed in three University Hospitals (Turku, Tampere, and Oulu University Hospital). This included all ICD-10 subdiagnoses, including NF1 (Q85.00). The social security numbers of these patients were subsequently screened in the three University Hospitals. Patients whose diagnostic criteria for NF1 were noted down in the hospital records were included. This resulted in 146 patients with NF1 in Turku region, 120 patients in Tampere region, and 196 patients in Oulu region (total 460). The study was approved by Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, Finland, and the Ethical Committee of Southwestern Hospital District, Turku, Finland. The detailed information can be found in study V.

4.2 SHORT INTRODUCTION TO CEPHALOMETRICS (I)

Cephalometric analysis is a method for evaluation of dimensions of cranial and facial bones. A number of computer-assisted analyses have been developed. The analysis is based on the lateral X-ray of the skull, and a cephalostat is used to position the participant's head in a fixed position. In this study, McNamara, Ricketts and Steiner analyses were used. McNamara analysis was used to measure dimensions and positions of maxilla and mandible. This analysis has been originally developed for planning of orthodontic and orthognathic treatment [McNamara 1984]. Steiner analysis was used to evaluate the anteroposterior position of mandible and maxilla [Steiner 1959]. Ricketts analysis was used in the current study to measure the dimensions of cranial base and jaws [Ricketts 1961, Ricketts 1981].

4.3 HISTOCHEMISTRY (II)

Histological analysis using TRACP and hematoxylin eosin-stainings was performed on samples from three patients [Kuorilehto et al. 2006, Leskelä et al. 2009] undergoing amputation for NF1-related pseudarthrosis. The detailed information can be found in study II.

4.4 OSTEOCLAST DIFFERENTIATION ASSAY (II,III)

The osteoclast differentiation assay is described here in whole.

Peripheral blood samples taken in lithium-heparin vials were diluted 1:1 in PBS immediately after taking the sample. Mononuclear cell fraction including osteoclast progenitor cells was isolated from blood samples using Ficoll gradient centrifugation, followed by PBS wash. Cell counting was carried out under light microscope with Bürker chamber. The cells were used either immediately for culturing or stored in liquid nitrogen. For storage in liquid nitrogen, the cells were suspended in 10 % dimethylsulfoxide and 90 % heat-inactivated fetal calf serum (Gibco, NY). Storaging of the progenitor cells in liquid nitrogen did not have any apparent effect on the results of following cell cultures.

Bone slices, size 5x10 mm, were cut from bovine bone using low-speed saw and rinsed in ethanol, followed by ultrasound sonication for 1 min. Cells of each patient/control pair were cultured on bone slices from the same bone of the same animal. Medium for culture

contained alpha-MEM (Gibco, NY) supplemented with 10 % heat-inactivated fetal calf serum (Gibco, NY), penicillin-streptomycin, and the essential osteoclastogenic factors RANKL (20 ng/ml, Peprotech, Rocky Hill, NJ) and MCSF (10 ng/ml, R&D systems, Minneapolis, MN) for 10 days.

Mononuclear cells stored in liquid nitrogen were melted and suspended in medium (50 μ l, one million mononuclear cells or 0.1 million CD14 positive cells / bone slice). Six bone slices and one control slice were prepared for each patient/control pair. Cell suspension was placed on each bone slice. Control slices were covered with medium without cells. Cells were allowed to attach onto bone slices for two hours in cell culture incubator. After the incubation, the bone slices with the cells were placed into 24-well culture plates (Falcon, Franklin Lakes, NJ) with 1 ml of culture medium. The cells were cultured at 37°C in the presence of 5 % CO₂ for 10 days. Medium was changed once every four days by replacing half of old medium with fresh with double concentration of both RANKL and MCSF.

To collect CD14 positive osteoclast progenitor cells, magnetic cell separation method (MACS®, Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany) was used. Cells were first filtered with MACS pre-separation filters, and then suspended into 80 μ l of buffer and 20 μ l MACS antibody to CD14 (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany) for 10 million mononuclear cells. Suspension was kept in cold for 15 min, before applying into the magnetic separation column, followed by separation procedure according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Cell culture samples were fixed with 4 % paraformaldehyde in PBS for 20 min. Cells were then permeabilized using 0.1 % Triton X-100 in PBS on ice for 5 min. Bone slices were stained for tartrate resistant acid phosphatase staining (TRACP) for visualising osteoclasts in light microscopy. Leukocyte acid phosphatase kit (Sigma) was used. The staining was carried out according to manufacturer's instructions at 37°C for 60 min, followed by Hoechst-staining (1.25 μ g / 1 ml PBS, Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR) for 3 min. To visualize actin rings, the slices were incubated with 3 nM rhodamine-conjugated phalloidin (Sigma-Aldrich, Steinheim, Germany) in dark at room temperature for 30 min. Finally, bone slices with cells were mounted with 90 % glycerol on microscope slides.

Micrographs were taken using Leica DMRB fluorescence microscope (Leica, Wetzlar, Germany) with Leica IM50 version 4.0 image analysis software using x10 or x20 objective depending on the density of cells. UV-micrography was chosen for better visualization of nuclei and for better contrast. Dark blue color represents TRACP-staining which looks purple in light microscopy. TRACP-positive cells having at least three nuclei were considered as osteoclasts. Due to the high number of cells per bone slice, twelve visual fields were photographed from each bone slice. Visual fields were always selected from the same areas on bone slices. Slices with notably small total amount of osteoclasts were excluded, such as those under 20 % of the average amount. The cell counts represent

averages of three to six bone slices per each person. Micrographs of actin rings for detailed analysis were taken with Leica DMR confocal argon-krypton laser scanning microscope (Leica, Heidelberg, Germany) with Leica Microsystems software version 2.5 for optimal image quality.

To analyze resorption pits, peroxidase-conjugated wheat germ agglutinin (WGA) -lectin staining (Sigma-Aldrich, Steinheim, Germany) was performed to locate the pits, as described in detail [Selander et al. 1994]. Pit edges appear as brown-stained areas. Bone slices were scanned with Olympus BX51 motorized microscope (Olympus, Tokyo, Japan) with Olympus DotSlide 1.2 software. Each pit on each slice was counted. A detailed analysis was performed on a smaller region of interest where pit density was highest, using NIH ImageJ software version 1.38x, and analysing a total of 50-200 pits per slice.

4.5 EVALUATION OF BISPHOSPHONATES AND FTS IN ISOLATED OSTEOCLASTS (III)

Cells were cultured for seven days as described above. This was followed by a two-day culture with normal medium with RANKL and MCSF, but different bisphosphonates were added, concentrations 10E-6 M, 10E-7 M and 10E-8 M. Amino-bisphosphonates zoledronic acid (Zometa ®, Novartis Finland, Finland) and alendronate (Sigma, dissolved in DMSO) were used. Also non-amino-bisphosphonate clodronate 10E-7 M (Leiras, Finland) was used. Ras-inhibitor farnesyl thiosalisylic acid (FTS) was purchased from Cayman chemicals (Ann Arbor, MI) and concentration 10E-6 M was used.

4.6 APOPTOSIS (III)

Cells were cultured on bone as described above, with and without 10E-7 M zoledronic acid. A caspase-3 colorimetric assay kit (PromoCell, Heidelberg, Germany) was used to measure enzymatic activity of caspase-3, a marker of apoptosis. Cells were lysed and treated according to manufacturer's instructions. Absorbance was measured using Hidex Chameleon 96-plate reader (Hidex, Turku, Finland) at 405 nm.

4.7 RADIOLOGICAL BMD MEASUREMENT (III-V)

BMD of the 21 patients with NF1 who took part in study III was measured using different densitometers. Detailed information can be found in study III. BMD of the 19 patients with NF1 who took part in study IV was measured in Oulu university hospital using Lunar densitometer. Detailed information can be found in study IV. BMD data shown in study V was acquired from medical records and thus were taken with different densitometers. The diagnosis of osteoporosis and osteopenia was made according to the current diagnostic criteria [NIH 2001, Lewiecki et al. 2008].

4.8 SERUM MEASUREMENTS (II-IV)

Serum sample measurements were performed in studies II, III and IV, and are listed below

Study II CTX

- Study III Total calcium, ionized calcium, inorganic phosphate, parathyroid hormone, 25-D-vitamin, and alkaline phosphatase, including its isoenzymes. CTX, PINP and TRACP5b.
- Study IV Total calcium, ionized calcium, inorganic phosphate, parathyroid hormone, 25-D-vitamin, alkaline phosphatase, and thyroid stimulating hormone. ICTP, PINP and TRACP5b.

The meaning and use of individual measurements are described in section 2.2.4. In study II, CTX measurement was purchased from TYKSLAB, Turku, Finland. In study III, the measurements were purchased from TYKSLAB, Turku, Finland, but control PINP samples were purchased from Oulu University Hospital, Oulu, Finland. In study IV, all serum measurements were purchased from Oulu University Hospital, Oulu, Finland. Detailed information can be found in the corresponding studies.

4.9 STATISTICS (I-V)

Detailed information about statistics can be found in each corresponding original publication.

5 **RESULTS**

5.1 SHORT JAWS AND CRANIAL BASE ARE COMMON IN NF1 (I)

Many developmental disorders are associated with craniofacial dysplasia. NF1 often displays with skeletal involvement, suggesting that there could be a disorder in craniofacial morphogenesis. The aim of study I was to characterize the craniofacial dimensions between NF1 patients and Finnish controls using lateral X-rays of the skull. A total of 85 patients with NF1 and their age and sex-matched controls were enrolled. The results showed that the patients with NF1 have short mandible, maxilla and cranial base compared to controls. Short jaws and cranial base were evident in males and females, but statistically significant only in adults, most likely due to limited number of children and adolescents. It should be noted that these NF1 patients did not require any orthodontic or orthognathic treatment, as marked malocclusion was not found.

5.2 OSTEOCLASTS IN NF1-RELATED PSEUDARTHROSIS (II)

Histological analysis of NF1-related pseudarthrosis tissues revealed large multinuclear TRACP-positive osteoclasts in contact with bone. Osteoclasts were also found without direct contact to bone, within the fibrous pseudarthrosis tissue, but without any signs of apoptosis. These findings were compared to adjacent areas of healthy-looking bone. Markedly higher amount of osteoclasts were present in the pseudarthrosis site compared to adjacent bone.

5.3 A NEW METHOD FOR STORING OSTEOCLAST PROGENITORS (II,III)

The methods for isolation of osteoclast progenitors in liquid nitrogen were optimized. Even after storage in liquid nitrogen, the osteoclast progenitors remained viable and we were able to culture them into multinuclear TRACP-positive cells which resorb bone, apparently osteoclasts. This method was fundamental in the studies included in this thesis.

5.4 NF1 OSTEOCLASTS ARE HYPERACTIVE AND APOPTOSIS-TOLERANT (II,III)

Osteoclasts derived from 17 patients with NF1 and controls were evaluated *in vitro*. The following parameters were assessed:

• Osteoclast number and number of nuclei per osteoclast, representing osteoclast formation capacity.

- Actin rings as a representative of active osteoclasts.
- Number of resorption pits on bone slice and CTX released into cell culture media, as representatives of osteoclast resorption capacity.
- Survival in serum-free conditions and under the *in vitro* effects of different bisphosphonates, as representatives of tolerance to apoptotic stimuli.

The results showed that NF1 osteoclast progenitors have increased osteoclast formation capacity compared to control osteoclast progenitors. Thus, more osteoclasts are generated from the same amount of progenitors. NF1 osteoclasts display more frequently an actin ring, representing that an increased proportion of osteoclasts is resorbing. The net result in bone resorption, estimated either by the number of resorption pits or CTX released into cell culture media, was increased approximately two-fold in NF1 samples. This two-fold increase was found using both measurement methods, indicating that these two methods give a comparable result. It was also shown that this NF1-osteoclast phenotype is independent of the presence of RANKL and MCSF. These findings were verified in study III which included 20 NF1 patients and 20 controls.

NF1 osteoclasts were shown to tolerate serum-free conditions better than the control osteoclasts in study II. This encouraged us to evaluate the effects of bisphosphonates on isolated NF1 osteoclasts. NF1 osteoclasts were demonstrated to be insensitive to apoptotic stimuli of alendronate, zoledronic acid and clodronate. The role of apoptosis was estimated by measuring the levels of caspase-3, a marker of apoptosis, in cell lysates with and without zoledronic acid. The increase in caspase-3 levels were lower in NF1 samples treated with zoledronic acid compared to controls. In addition, large multinuclear osteoclasts were noted in samples treated with bisphosphonates, supporting the view of apoptosis-insensitivity rather than increased proliferation of NF1 osteoclasts. Since clodronate causes apoptosis with a different mechanism compared to alendronate and zoledronic acid, it appears that NF1 osteoclast tolerate multiple types of apoptotic signals.

The addition of farnesyl thiosalicylic acid (FTS), an inhibitor of Ras, abolished the insensitivity to zoledronic acid observed in NF1 osteoclasts. This suggests that tolerance to apoptosis in NF1 osteoclasts could be mediated via Ras-pathway, which in turn is in agreement with neurofibromin functioning as a Ras-GAP.

5.5 SERUM VALUES ASSOCIATED WITH BONE HEALTH (III,IV)

Selected serum values were measured from 20 NF1 patients in study III and 19 NF1 patients in study IV, thus the results of 39 patients are summarized here. Reference values of University Hospitals of Turku and Oulu were used. Calcium and phosphorus levels were within reference ranges in these 39 patients with NF1, ruling out several secondary disorders of bone metabolism. Low levels of serum D-25 vitamin (below 40 nM) were observed in 7 (18 %) NF1 patients. High levels of serum parathyroid hormone (above 65 ng/ml) were found in 13 (33 %), high levels of CTX or ICTP (above 0.57

microgram/l for CTX) in 10 (26 %) and high levels of PINP (above 76 micorgram/l) in 6 (15 %) of NF1 patients. Alkaline phosphatase levels were normal. Four (10 %) patients had secondary hyperparathyreoidism (low vitamin D and high PTH).

5.6 NF1 PATIENTS SHOW BONE CATABOLISM BASED ON BONE TURNOVER MARKERS (III)

Serum CTX is considered as an indicator of bone resorption, and PINP as an indicator of bone formation. However, as these two events are coupled, increase in bone resorption (or CTX) is often followed by increase in bone formation (or PINP). CTX/PINP ratio is normal when the relative amount of resorption and formations is equal, even though the bone turnover rate is increased. However, increased ratio means that more bone is resorbed than gained [Chopin et al. 2012]. NF1 patients have higher levels of serum CTX, and also higher levels of PINP compared to controls, as estimated in 20 NF1 patients. The CTX/PINP ratio was also higher in NF1 patients compared to controls, suggesting bone catabolic status.

5.7 SERUM CTX CORRELATES WITH BONE RESORPTION *IN VITRO* (II,III,IV)

A considerable effort has been put to find a possible link between osteoclast activity *in vitro* and bone health *in vivo* by us and others [Stevenson et al. 2011a]. *In vitro* osteoclast activity was measured by quantitating number of osteoclasts in the cell culture, and the amount CTX released in the cell culture. These two parameters were correlated to serum laboratory values (see 4.8), BMD values, T- and Z-scores. Serum CTX levels correlated with levels of cell culture CTX, but other correlations were not found.

5.8 PATIENTS WITH NF1 OFTEN DISPLAY LOW BMD (III,IV,V)

The frequency of osteoporosis and osteopenia in NF1 are shown in **Table 3**, section 2.1.5. Frequency of osteoporosis and osteopenia in studies III, IV and V are in analogy with the summarized literature. It should be noted that patients in study V represent a selected population whose BMD was known, since the aim of the study V was not to evaluate the frequency of osteoporosis.

5.9 RISK FACTORS FOR LOW BMD ARE OFTEN ABSENT IN NF1 (III,IV)

Known risk factors for low BMD are high age, low peak bone mass, smoking, alcohol consumption, immobility, inadequate calcium and vitamin D supplementation and other medical conditions such as glucocorticoid use (see 2.3.1). Because NF1-related

osteoporosis was noted in young, non-smoking, physically active men and women, the NF1-related osteoporosis may not often be associated with traditional risk factors for low BMD. Approximately half of the NF1 patients with low BMD (osteopenia/osteoporosis) have one risk factor for low BMD, but seldom two or more. This is clinically important since physicians should screen for NF1-related osteoporosis based on the NF1 diagnosis, and not based on the clinical risk factors.

On the other hand, NF1-osteopenia often progresses to osteoporosis, which is also noted in the general population, suggesting that age is a significant risk factor for low BMD in NF1. A comprehensive risk factor analysis for both low BMD and fracture risk in NF1 is called for.

5.10 BMD DECREASES PROGRESSIVELY WITH AGING IN NF1 (IV)

BMD worsens progressively as the patients with NF1 become older, as shown in 19 NF1 patients whose BMD was remeasured 12 years after the initial measurement [Kuorilehto et al. 2005]. T-scores of all but one patient had decreased in 12 years. Clinically, four patients with NF1-related osteopenia now had osteoporosis. This was not explained by changes in physical activity, smoking habits, sunlight exposure, body mass index, or laboratory parameters, even though secondary hyperparathyreoidism was common. Thus, the decrease in BMD may represent the effect of aging.

This decrease in BMD often results in NF1-related osteopenia progressing to osteoporosis. This was noted in patients aged ~40-70 years. Clinicians should take this into account when a marked osteopenia is found, for example T-score -2.3 SD, because these patients may have osteoporosis in a few years. Since a slight drop in Z-scores was noted, it remains to be seen whether patients with NF1 lose bone faster than persons without NF1. However, study IV is limited due to small number of patients and due to fact that we were unable to reach controls for the study.

5.11 PATIENTS WITH NF1 ARE AT FRACTURE RISK (IV,V)

The fracture risk in 460 NF1 patients and 3988 controls persons was evaluated by screening the hospital medical records in a register-based study. Age and gender distribution was similar between NF1 and control cohorts, allowing the comparison of these two cohorts. In NF1 patients aged 41 years or older a risk ratio x5.2 for fractures was observed. NF1 children (age 3-16 yrs) had x3.4 risk ratio for fractures compared to control children. On the contrary, there was no difference in the fracture risk of patients with NF1 aged 17-40 years compared to controls. No gender-related differences were observed in any age cohort. Fractures of ribs, pelvis, fingers, toes and humerus were especially common in NF1, but skull fractures were rare.

The fracture incidence was equal in NF1 patients with cancer, compared to NF1 patients without cancer.

Study IV included a small cohort of six patients with NF1-related osteoporosis in 1999. During the 12-year follow-up, three osteoporotic elderly patients with NF1 had sustained fractures between years 1999 and 2011. These women were not treated with antiresorptives or bone anabolics before the fractures. This finding prompted us to screen for a subpopulation of NF1 patients, whose BMD was known. The search in study V resulted in 50 NF1 patients. Patients with NF1-related osteoporosis had higher risk for fractures compared to NF1 patients with normal BMD.

5.12 FRACTURE HEALING IN NF1 (V)

Fracture healing in NF1 was assessed in 60 fractures. One 16-year-old male patient who had fractured his ulna had subsequently developed an acquired pseudarthrosis. However, it may be possible that this pseudarthrosis was a NF1-related pre-existing lesion in bone, which had fractured.

6 **DISCUSSION**

6.1 CRANIOFACIAL MORPHOLOGY IN NF1

A novel finding was that craniofacial morphology of NF1 patients is clearly different compared to controls, displaying short mandible, maxilla and cranial base. This is in analogy with findings in Spred-1 knockout mice, which have hyperactive Ras signaling and display a short face [Inoue et al. 2005]. We speculate that Ras is required for normal growth and development of craniofacial structures, and *NF1* gene may thus regulate the development of the skull. Development and ossification of craniofacial bones includes both intramembraneous and endochondral ossification, and it may be possible that NF1 regulates either of them, or both. The short jaws and cranial base were evident in children, adolescents and adults, but statistically significant only in adults. Therefore, we can only speculate that the short jaws and cranial base are present at birth but become more prominent after puberty.

6.2 HYPERACTIVE OSTEOCLAST AND NF1-RELATED BONE CATABOLISM

The current study showed that NF1 osteoclasts isolated from bone microenvironment operative *in vivo* display hyperactive phenotype compared to controls. Specifically, NF1 osteoclasts have increased differentiation and resorption capacity, abnormal morphology and tolerate different apoptotic signals. The same number of osteoclasts derived from NF1 patients resorb bone roughly twice as much as osteoclasts isolated from control persons. The results show that the hyperactive NF1 osteoclast has this phenotype without the influence of osteoblasts or other factors. This NF1-osteoclast phenotype is similar to osteoclasts of different Nf1-mice models (see 2.1.5).

The *in vitro* results do not necessarily represent the situation in NF1 patients. Increased number of osteoclasts has been shown in bone biopsies from NF1 patients [Seitz et al. 2010], supporting the *in vitro* findings. Several multinuclear TRACP-positive osteoclasts were noted in samples from NF1-related pseudarthrosis tissue in study II, but the samples are from a specific NF1-related skeletal lesion site. However, our results show that patients with NF1 have increased levels of bone turnover markers CTX and PINP compared to controls, suggesting increased bone turnover. Taken together with this fact, and the high frequency of low BMD, it is likely that osteoclasts play a role in bone catabolism in NF1.

This study did not evaluate the effects of osteoblasts on osteoclasts. Osteoblasts regulate bone turnover through OPG/RANK/RANKL pathway, and it may be possible that this

signaling either suppresses or even enhances the bone catabolic phenotype in NF1. Defective osteoblast differentiation has been shown in osteoblasts derived from patients with NF1 [Leskelä et al. 2009] and in mouse models (see 2.1.5). Since NF1 osteoclasts are insensitive to apoptosis *in vitro* and are found within fibrous pseudarthrosis tissue, not adjacent to bone, it is feasible to speculate that NF1 osteoclasts do not respond to apoptotic signals, and thus continue resorption regardless of suppressive signals.

In addition, the effect of hormones on bone health in NF1 remains to be elucidated. The morphological changes observed in NF1 osteoclasts also suggest a disorder of osteoclast cytoskeleton, especially in actin cytoskeleton. However, since the osteoclast cytoskeleton changes during different phases of the resorption cycle [Väänänen et al. 2000], it may be difficult to assess cytoskeleton in NF1 osteoclasts. It also remains to be seen, whether NF1 osteoclast secrete acid and proteases more efficiently, explaining furthermore the increased osteoclast bone resorption rate in NF1. The role and health of bone marrow in NF1 remains also to be elucidated, since both osteoclast and osteoblast progenitors originate from the bone marrow.

6.3 SERUM MARKERS OF BONE HEALTH

One of our standout result was that patients with NF1 have higher levels of serum bone turnover markers CTX and PINP compared to controls (see 6.2). Serum calcium was within reference range in patients with NF1. However, NF1 patients with low BMD have higher serum calcium compared to NF1 patients with normal BMD. This may be due to increased bone loss in NF1 patients with low BMD. High levels of serum parathyroid hormone and low levels of serum vitamin D were observed in adult patients with NF1. In summary, the findings of the current study are in analogy to the previous literature [Lammert et al. 2006, Brunetti-Pierri et al. 2008, Tucker et al. 2009, Seitz et al. 2010]. Bone lysis due to adjacent tumors seems unlikely, since some osteoporotic patients have low tumor burden, and alkaline phosphatase levels were normal in NF1 patients of the current study.

Secondary hyperparathyroidism was common in NF1, and may contribute to bone health in some, but not all, patients with NF1. This should be assessed in the future studies. We also speculate that low levels of vitamin D may be an additional risk factor for low BMD in NF1.

6.4 IN VIVO - IN VITRO CORRELATION IN BONE RESORPTION

Preliminary results in study II showed that patients with NF1 who have high levels of serum CTX display also high bone resorption capacity in osteoclast samples derived from their peripheral blood. In study III, the levels of serum CTX correlated with CTX released in the osteoclast culture media in 20 patient/control pairs, providing a completely new approach to bone metabolism in NF1. This may suggest that osteoclast

behavior *in vitro* may reflect the bone resorption rate *in vivo*, since this correlation was seen in the NF1 cohort but also in the control cohort. We have identified serum CTX as an interesting candidate for future research searching for a marker of bone health in NF1, and also in the general population. However, the predictive value of serum or cell culture CTX remains to be elucidated.

6.5 BONE MINERAL DENSITY IN NF1

Our studies support the 20-50 % frequency of NF1-related osteoporosis, as summarized in **Table 3**, section 2.1.5. Osteoporosis is defined according to WHO by low BMD, altered bone architecture and increased fracture risk. Patients with NF1 have low BMD [Elefteriou et al. 2009], altered bone microarchitecture [Seitz et al. 2010] and increased fracture risk, as shown in study V. Thus, NF1-related osteoporosis in adults fills the strict WHO criteria for osteoporosis.

On the contrary to osteoporosis in common, our results suggest that NF1-related osteoporosis does not often display with traditional risk factors for low BMD. This is clinically important, since physicians should look for osteoporosis based on the NF1 diagnosis, instead of these traditional risk factors. However, we demonstrated that the BMD decreases progressively with aging in NF1, and thus age is an independent risk factor for low BMD also in NF1, similar to osteoporosis in general. This means that the 20-50 % frequency of NF1-related osteoporosis most likely increases among the older NF1 patients. In addition, the current literature on NF1-related osteoporosis lacks elderly patients. In the current study, the patients with NF1-related osteoporosis were aged 37-76 years. This is in analogy with study V, where increased fracture risk was observed in NF1 patients aged ~40 years and older, but not in the younger adults.

Increased levels of serum CTX and PINP compared to controls represent increased osteoclast and osteoblast activity, ie. bone turnover. This is typical for age-related osteoporosis in general. However, these markers do not describe the quality of the formed bone. The increase in levels of bone turnover markers may also suggest that NF1 patients lose slightly more bone over time compared to controls. This is supported by the slight drop in Z-scores of NF1 patients in 12 years, and may partially explain the increase in the frequency of NF1-related osteoporosis with aging.

6.6 FRACTURE RISK IN NF1

A key finding of the current study was to show that NF1 patients have increased fracture risk. Specifically, patients with NF1 aged ~40 years or more have x5.2 risk for having a fracture. This is in analogy to low BMD in NF1, and is in agreement with the previous questionnaire studies [Brunetti-Pierri et al. 2008, Tucker et al. 2009]. The age group of ~40 or older is in analogy to results of progressively worsening BMD in NF1 (see 6.5).

This is further supported by the fact that patients with NF1-related osteoporosis have increased fracture risk compared to NF1 patients with normal BMD.

Our results also showed that children with NF1 have x3.4 increased fracture risk compared to children without NF1. Low BMD has been reported in NF1 children [Stevenson et al. 2007, Duman et al. 2008], which supports this finding. Surprisingly, patients aged 17-40 years did not have an increased fracture risk compared to controls, even though low BMD had also been shown in this age cohort [Elefteriou et al. 2009]. NF1-related osteoporosis was also rare in patients aged 17-40 years in the current study. We can only speculate, that the bone strength is highest in NF1 patients aged 17-40 years, and is subsequently reduced, leading to increased fracture risk.

Fracture risk is a sum of bone strenght, risk to fall and trauma energy. Bone strength is usually evaluated by measuring BMD. In analogy to general population, BMD alone is a limited predictor of fractures [Järvinen et al. 2008, Compston et al. 2009, Rachner et al. 2011]. Low BMD is associated with NF1, but other factors such as bone macroscopic morphology, microarchitecture and qualitative changes of mineralized bone matrix could additionally affect bone strength in NF1. Also factors not related to bone directly should be taken into account. NF1 is associated with selected types of malignancy, which could weaken the bones [Evans et al. 2011], but no such a relationship was found in the current study. In addition, impaired motor proficiency has been described in NF1 children, possibly predisposing to falls [Thompson et al. 2010]

6.7 BONE DYNAMICS IN NF1

We speculate that hyperactive NF1 osteoclast and defective NF1 osteoblasts generate NF1-bone phenotype. In this phenotype the bone fails to mineralize and develop completely, supported by the increased amounts of osteoid in NF1 bone biopsies and low BMD noted in NF1 children [Stevenson et al. 2007, Duman et al. 2008, Leskelä et al. 2009, Seitz et al. 2010]. The peak bone mass in NF1 is possibly reached at age of 17-40 years, which is supported by the low fracture risk in patients of this age. Subsequently, the BMD worsens progressively after reaching adulthood as shown in study IV. The decreasing BMD is supported by the hyperactive NF1 osteoclasts and increased levels of bone turnover markers in NF1.

It is possible that other factors, such as mechanical loading, smoking, low levels of vitamin D and/or hormones, may further disturb this NF1-bone phenotype, leading ultimately to development of osteoporosis in some patients with NF1. The presence of other factors influencing the BMD in NF1 seems likely, since only approximately 20-50 % of patients with NF1 develop osteoporosis. However, majority of adult NF1 patients have low BMD.

6.8 NF1 CHILDREN WITH FRACTURES AND/OR OSTEOPOROSIS

We did not analyze BMD in NF1 children since the measurement involves the use of X-rays. However, there are currently no studies concerning BMD in NF1 children correlated with their fracture history. Therefore it is difficult to comment on possible osteoporosis in NF1 children. Increased fracture risk in NF1 children (aged 3-16 yrs) compared to control children was observed, fracture incidence reaching up to 12 per 1000 person-years. However, fracture incidences of up to 16 have been reported in healthy Finnish children [Mäyränpää et al. 2010]. Therefore, the pediatric fracture risk in NF1 should be evaluated in detail.

6.9 NEW RECOMMENDATION FOR DXA SCANS IN NF1

Based on the results of the current study, all patients with NF1, males and females, aged \sim 40 or more should be evaluated for fracture risk. This evaluation means assessment of clinical risk factors for fractures, such as previous fracture or medication. In addition it could include DXA scans, which are easily available in Finland.

6.10 TREATMENT RECOMMENDATION FOR NF1-RELATED OSTEOPENIA

The study IV shows that NF1-related osteopenia often progresses to osteoporosis in patients aged ~40-70. Therefore osteopenia in NF1-patients should not be ignored, but instead should be followed up and considered for prophylactic measures to prevent osteoporosis. These measures could include lifestyle advice, and correction of potentially low levels of vitamin D. It has been shown that vitamin D and calcium therapy restores the levels of vitamin D, but does not affect the BMD [Brunetti-Pierri et al. 2008, Petramala et al. 2011]. However, these studies do not evaluate the prevention of fractures or osteoporosis. It should be remembered that the majority of osteoporotic fractures occur actually in persons with osteopenia [Siris et al. 2004].

6.11 TREATMENT RECOMMENDATION FOR NF1-RELATED OSTEOPOROSIS

Our results showed that NF1 is an independent risk factor for fractures in patients aged \sim 40 or more. In addition, we showed that NF1-related osteoporosis increases this risk even further. Therefore, all patients with NF1-related osteoporosis should be evaluated for their risk factors for fractures. Patients with high risk for fractures should be considered for prophylactic measures to prevent fractures. These measures could include lifestyle advice, vitamin D supplementation and even pharmaceutical therapy for osteoporosis.

The study III evaluated the effects of bisphosphonates using a cell culture system. NF1-osteoclasts displayed insensitivity to alendronate, clodronate and zoledronic acid compared to osteoclasts derived from healthy controls. However, these *in vitro* results cannot be extrapolated to NF1 patients taking these drugs. It may be possible that as patients take these drugs for years, the cumulative exposure to bisphosphonates overcomes the NF1-related insensitivity to these drugs. Therefore, recommended first-line treatment of choice for NF1-related osteoporosis could be alendronate, similar to osteoporosis in general [Compston et al. 2009, Rachner et al. 2011].

6.12 FUTURE ASPECTS

In my opinion, the fracture prevention in NF1 should be the next step in research of this field. Due to research permits of the study V, we were not able to comprehensively characterize different risk factors for fractures in NF1. Also the trauma mechanisms for fractures should be evaluated in detail. Clinical data on bisphosphonate therapy in patients with NF1 should be collected, even in a small case series. Decrease in bone turnover markers and increase in BMD are the expected results of bisphosphonate therapy, and should be characterized in NF1. This would clarify the issue, whether bisphosphonates are effective in NF1.

7 CONCLUSIONS

- NF1 affects craniofacial morphogenesis. Patients with NF1 have short jaws and cranial base. The short jaws and cranial base did not require orthodontic/ orthognathic treatment in the NF1 patients enrolled in the current study.
- Osteoclasts derived from patients with NF1 display enhanced formation and resorption capacity, and tolerate apoptotic signals, compared to osteoclasts from healthy controls. This phenotype is independent of bone microenvironment operative *in vivo*, and may contribute to bone loss in NF1. Persons with high bone resorption as estimated by serum CTX usually have high bone resorption capacity *in vitro*. This suggests a possible link between osteoclast activity *in vitro* and *in vivo*.
- Osteoclasts derived from patients with NF1 display insensitivity to bisphosphonates. This tolerance to bisphosphonate-induced apoptosis is most likely due to hyperactive Ras, since Ras- inhibitor counteracted this NF1-related insensitivity.
- Low BMD and osteoporosis are common in adult patients with NF1. In addition, patients with NF1 have higher levels of serum CTX and PINP compared to controls, reflecting increased bone turnover.
- The BMD of patients with NF1 decreases progressively with aging. Osteopenia often progresses to osteoporosis in NF1, especially in patients aged ~40-70. This is in analogy with the increased fracture risk in the same age group of NF1 patients.
- Patients with NF1 aged ~40 or more have x5.2 risk ratio for fractures. Children with NF1 have x3.4 risk ratio for fractures.

Based on the findings of this thesis, we recommended the following:

- All patients with NF1 aged ~40 or more, males and females, should have their fracture risk evaluated and possibly BMD measured.
 - Patients with normal BMD do not require additional attention, unless indications for another DXA scan are present.
 - If osteopenia is found, we recommend follow-up of the BMD, since osteopenia may often progress to osteoporosis.
 - If osteoporosis is found, the patient thus has two clinical risk factors for fractures; osteoporosis and NF1. Physicians are advised to screen for other fracture risk factors to identify high-risk patients for fractures.
- High risk NF1 patients for fractures, as defined above, should be consider for prophylactic measures to prevent fractures from occurring. These measures could be lifestyle intervention, vitamin D supplementation and possibly medication for osteoporosis.

8 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The work for this thesis was carried out in University of Turku, Institute of Biomedicine, Department of Cell Biology and Anatomy, during spring 2008 – spring 2012. The current study was made in collaboration with University Hospitals of Turku, Tampere and Oulu.

I would like to thank most sincerely my supervisors professor Juha Peltonen and professor Kalervo Väänänen. You always had time to help, guide and encourage to push onwards during the work. Your vast knowledge in the area of the current study has made this work possible. I also thank the present and former department heads of Cell Biology and Anatomy, for providing the facilities and equipment to carry out the current study.

Minna Männikkö and professor Markku Tammi are warmly thanked for reviewing this thesis, and providing valuable comments, ideas and criticism, which greatly improved this work at its final stages.

I would like to thank professors Juha Tuukkanen and Petri Lehenkari for serving as the supervisory committee of my thesis. Your comments and ideas have been of great value during the years. I would also like to thank the Turku Graduate School of Clinical Sciences.

This study was financially supported by Finnish Culture Foundation, Emil Aaltonen Foundation, Turku University Foundation, Foundation of Gerda and Ella Saarinen, EVO funding of Turku University Hospital, and the Academy of Finland. The funders represent non-commercial scientific institutions.

I would acknowledge my sincere gratitude for the members of our research group and my co-authors: Vesa Aaltonen, Maria Alanne, professor Hannu Aro, professor Risto-Pekka Happonen, Teuvo Hentunen, Elina Jokinen, Eeva-Mari Jouhilahti, Anna Koffert, Tommi Kuorilehto, Pekka Leinonen, Sirkku Peltonen, professor Pertti Pirttiniemi, Minna Pöyhönen, Laura Raiko, Erkki Svedström, and Vivian Visnapuu. Without your help and expert opinions this study would never be completed.

I thank my research colleagues Kaisa Ivaska, Jorma Määttä and Jonas Nyman for providing valuable comments and advice. Tero Wahlberg is acknowledged for assistance in statistical analyses. I also thank Natalija Eigeliene, Teresa Elo, Terhi Heino, Mirkka Hirvonen, Henna Joki, Salla Laine, Tiina Laitala-Leinonen, professor Sari Mäkelä, Jussi Mäkilä, Jorma Paranko, Lauri Polari, Jukka Vääräniemi, and Emrah Yatkin for additional assistance. Miso Immonen is acknowledged for help with the cell culture assays. Technical help of Mari Erlin, Paula Pennanen, Pirkko Rauhamäki, Krista Seppälä, Anneli Kurkela, and Ludmilla Shumskaya are greatly acknowledged. Iris Dunder, Soili Huhta, Outi Irjala, Mirva Metsälä, Piia Tahvanainen and Elina Tammi are acknowledged for administrative assistance throughout these years. I also thank all the staff, students and personnel at Department of Cell Biology and Anatomy.

Lastly, I would like to thank my parents Ansa and Jukka for love and support, and of course Jenni Piiparinen for standing beside me and sharing all these happy years.

Turku, June 2012

Eetu Heervä

9 REFERENCES

- Abrahamsen B (2010) Adverse effects of bisphosphonates. Calcif Tissue Int **86(6):**421-35
- Abrams SA (2011) Calcium and vitamin D requirements for optimal bone mass during adolescence. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care **14(6)**:605-9
- Adjei AA (2001) Blocking oncogenic Ras signaling for cancer therapy. J Natl Cancer Inst 93(14):1062-74
- Alanne MH, Siljamäki E, Peltonen S, Väänänen K, Windle JJ, Parada LF, Määttä JA, Peltonen J (2012) Phenotypic characterization of transgenic mice harboring Nf1(+/-) or Nf1(-/-) osteoclasts in otherwise Nf1(+/+) background. J Cell Biochem DOI: 10.1002/ jcb.24088
- Alhava E (2004) Epidemiology of osteoporosis in Finland. Duodecim **120(18)**:2149-50
- Alivuotila L, Hakokari J, Visnapuu V, Korpijaakko-Huuhka AM, Aaltonen O, Happonen RP, Peltonen S, Peltonen J (2010) Speech characteristics in neurofibromatosis type 1. Am J Med Genet A 152A(1):42-51
- Alwan S, Armstrong L, Joe H, Birch PH, Szudek J, Friedman JM (2007) Associations of osseous abnormalities in Neurofibromatosis 1. Am J Med Genet A 143A(12):1326-33
- Andersson G, Ek-Rylander B, Hollberg K, Ljusberg-Sjölander J, Lång P, Norgård M, Wang Y, Zhang SJ (2003) TRACP as an osteopontin phosphatase. J Bone Miner Res 18(10):1912-5
- Aoki Y, Niihori T, Narumi Y, Kure S, Matsubara Y (2008) The RAS/MAPK syndromes: novel roles of the RAS pathway in human genetic disorders. Hum Mutat 29:992-1006
- Axmann R, Böhm C, Krönke G, Zwerina J, Smolen J, Schett G (2009) Inhibition of interleukin-6 receptor directly blocks osteoclast formation in vitro and in vivo. Arthritis Rheum 60(9):2747-56
- Barbacid M (1987) ras genes. Annu Rev Biochem 56:779-827.
- Barkan B, Starinsky S, Friedman E, Stein R, Kloog Y (2006) The Ras inhibitor farnesylthiosalicylic acid as a potential therapy for neurofibromatosis type 1. Clin Cancer Res **12(18)**:5533-42
- Bergstrom JD, Bostedor RG, Masarachia PJ, Reszka AA, Rodan G (2000) Alendronate is a specific, nanomolar inhibitor of farnesyl diphosphate synthase. Arch Biochem Biophys 373(1):231-41
- Bertrand J, Cromme C, Umlauf D, Frank S, Pap T (2010) Molecular mechanisms of cartilage remodelling in osteoarthritis. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 42(10):1594-601

- Binder G (2009) Noonan syndrome, the Ras-MAPK signalling pathway and short stature. Horm Res **71** Suppl 2:64-70
- Bolognese MA (2010) SERMs and SERMs with estrogen for postmenopausal osteoporosis. Rev Endocr Metab Disord **11(4):**253-9
- Bonewald LF (2011) The amazing osteocyte. J Bone Miner Res 26(2):229-38
- Bonjour JP, Theintz G, Buchs B, Slosman D, Rizzoli R (1991) Critical years and stages of puberty for spinal and femoral bone mass accumulation during adolescence. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 73(3):555-63
- Bord S, Ireland DC, Beavan SR, Compston JE (2003) The effects of estrogen on osteoprotegerin, RANKL, and estrogen receptor expression in human osteoblasts. Bone **32(2):**136-41
- Bouillon R, Eelen G, Verlinden L, Mathieu C, Carmeliet G, Verstuyf A (2006) Vitamin D and cancer. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 102(1-5):156-62
- Brannan CI, Perkins AS, Vogel KS, Ratner N, Nordlund ML, Reid SW, Buchberg AM, Jenkins NA, Parada LF, Copeland NG (1994). Targeted disruption of the neurofibromatosis type-1 gene leads to developmental abnormalities in heart and various neural crest-derived tissues. Genes Dev 8:1019-29
- Brems H, Chmara M, Sahbatou M, Denayer E, Taniguchi K, Kato R, Somers R, Messiaen L, De Schepper S, Fryns JP, Cools J, Marynen P, Thomas G, Yoshimura A, Legius E (2007) Germline loss-of-function mutations in SPRED1 cause a neurofibromatosis 1-like phenotype. Nat Genet 39(9):1120-6
- Brown JJ, Zacharin MR (2009) Safety and efficacy of intravenous zoledronic acid in paediatric osteoporosis. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab 22(1):55-63
- Brown JP, Albert C, Nassar BA, Adachi JD, Cole D, Davison KS, Dooley KC, Don-Wauchope A, Douville P, Hanley DA, Jamal SA, Josse R, Kaiser S, Krahn J, Krause R, Kremer R, Lepage R, Letendre E, Morin S, Ooi DS, Papaioaonnou A, Ste-Marie LG (2009) Bone turnover markers in the management of postmenopausal osteoporosis. Clin Biochem 42(10-11):929-42
- Brunetti-Pierri N, Doty SB, Hicks J, Phan K, Mendoza-Londono R, Blazo M, Tran A, Carter S, Lewis RA, Plon SE, Phillips WA, O'Brian Smith E, Ellis KJ, Lee B (2008) Generalized metabolic bone disease in Neurofibromatosis type I. Mol Genet Metab 94(1):105-11
- Bundschu K, Walter U, Schuh K (2007) Getting a first clue about SPRED functions. Bioessays 29: 897-907

- Cawthon R, Weiss R, Xu G, Viskochil D, Culver M, Stevens J, Robertson M, Dunn D, Gesteland R, O'Connell P (1990) A major segment of the neurofibromatosis type 1 gene: cDNA sequence, genomic structure, and point mutations. Cell 62:193-201
- Chai Y, Maxson RE (2006) Recent advances in craniofacial morphogenesis. Dev Dyn. 235(9):2353-75.
- Chambers TJ, Darby JA, Fuller K (1985) Mammalian collagenase predisposes bone surfaces to osteoclastic resorption. Cell Tissue Res **241(3):6**71-5
- Chopin F, Biver E, Funck-Brentano T, Bouvard B, Coiffier G, Garnero P, Thomas T (2012) Prognostic interest of bone turnover markers in the management of postmenopausal osteoporosis. Joint Bone Spine 79(1):26-31
- Christgau S, Rosenquist C, Alexandersen P, Bjarnason N, Ravn P, Fledelius C, Herling C, Qvist P, Christiansen C (1998) Clinical evaluation of the Serum CrossLaps One Step ELISA, a new assay measuring the serum concentration of bone-derived degradation products of type I collagen C-telopeptides. Clin Chem 44:2290– 300
- Clementi M, Milani S, Mammi I, Boni S, Monciotti C, Tenconi R (1999) Neurofibromatosis type 1 growth charts. Am J Med Genet 87:317–323
- Colnot C, Lu C, Hu D, Helms JA (2004) Distinguishing the contributions of the perichondrium, cartilage, and vascular endothelium to skeletal development. Dev Biol 269(1):55-69
- Compston JE (2007) Skeletal actions of intermittent parathyroid hormone: effects on bone remodelling and structure. Bone **40(6)**:1447-52
- Compston J, Cooper A, Cooper C, Francis R, Kanis JA, Marsh D, McCloskey EV, Reid DM, Selby P, Wilkins M; National Osteoporosis Guideline Group (NOGG) (2009) Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of osteoporosis in postmenopausal women and men from the age of 50 years in the UK. Maturitas 62(2):105-8
- Cooper DM, Erickson B, Peele AG, Hannah K, Thomas CD, Clement JG (2011) Visualization of 3D osteon morphology by synchrotron radiation micro-CT. J Anat 219(4):481-9
- Coulibaly MO, Sietsema DL, Burgers TA, Mason J, Williams BO, Jones CB (2010) Recent advances in the use of serological bone formation markers to monitor callus development and fracture healing. Crit Rev Eukaryot Gene Expr 20(2):105-27
- Coxon FP, Thompson K, Roelofs AJ, Ebetino FH, Rogers MJ (2008) Visualizing mineral binding and uptake of bisphosphonate by osteoclasts and non-resorbing cells. Bone 42(5):848-60
- Crawford AH, Bagamery N (1986) Osseous manifestations of neurofibromatosis in childhood. J Pediatr Orthop 6:72–88

- Crawford AH, Schorry EK (2006) Neurofibromatosis update. J Pediatr Orthop **26(3)**:413-23
- Crawford AH, Parikh S, Schorry E, Von Stein D (2007) The immature spine in type-1 neurofibromatosis. J Bone Joint Surg Am **89 Suppl 1**:123-42
- Cummings SR, San Martin J, McClung MR, Siris ES, Eastell R, Reid IR, Delmas P, Zoog HB, Austin M, Wang A, Kutilek S, Adami S, Zanchetta J, Libanati C, Siddhanti S, Christiansen C; FREEDOM Trial (2009) Denosumab for prevention of fractures in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis. N Engl J Med 361:756–765
- D'ambrosio J, Langlais R, Young R (1988) Jaw and skull changes in neurofibromatosis. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol **66:**391–396
- Dalle Carbonare L, Valenti MT, Bertoldo F, Zanatta M, Zenari S, Realdi G, Lo Cascio V, Giannini S (2005) Bone microarchitecture evaluated by histomorphometry. Micron 36(7-8):609-16
- De Raedt T, Maertens O, Chmara M, Brems H, Heyns I, Sciot R, Majounie E, Upadhyaya M, De Schepper S, Speleman F, Messiaen L, Vermeesch JR, Legius E (2006) Somatic loss of wild type NF1 allele in neurofibromas: Comparison of NF1 microdeletion and non-microdeletion patients. Genes Chromosomes Cancer **45(10)**:893-904
- De Raedt T, Maertens O, Serra E, Legius E (2008) Somatic NF1 mutations in tumors and other tissue. In: Monogr Hum Genet, Neurofibromatoses. Edited by Kaufmann D. Basel, Switzerland: Karger, 143–153
- De Schepper S, Maertens O, Callens T, Naeyaert J, Lambert J, Messiaen L (2008) Somatic mutation analysis in NF1 café au lait spots reveals two NF1 hits in the melanocytes. J Invest Dermatol 128:1050–1053
- DeBella K, Szudek J, Friedman JM (2000) Use of the national institutes of health criteria for diagnosis of neurofibromatosis 1 in children. Pediatrics 105(3 Pt 1):608-14
- Dobnig H, Sipos A, Jiang Y, Fahrleitner-Pammer A, Ste-Marie LG, Gallagher JC, Pavo I, Wang J, Eriksen EF (2005) Early changes in biochemical markers of bone formation correlate with improvements in bone structure during teriparatide therapy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab **90(7)**:3970-7
- Ducatman B, Scheithauer B, Piepgras D, Reiman HM, Ilstrup DM (1986) Malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumors: a clinicopathologic study of 120 cases. Cancer 57:2006-2021
- Dulai S, Briody J, Schindeler A, North KN, Cowell CT, Little DG (2007) Decreased bone mineral density in neurofibromatosis type 1: results from a pediatric cohort. J Pediatr Orthop 27:472-475
- Duman O, Ozdem S, Turkkahraman D, Olgac ND, Gungor F, Haspolat S (2008) Bone metabolism

markers and bone mineral density in children with neurofibromatosis type-1. Brain Dev **30(9):**584-8

- Dunford JE, Rogers MJ, Ebetino FH, Phipps RJ, Coxon FP (2006) Inhibition of protein prenylation by bisphosphonates causes sustained activation of Rac, Cdc42, and Rho GTPases. J Bone Miner Res 21(5):684-94
- Duong TA, Sbidian E, Valeyrie-Allanore L, Vialette C, Ferkal S, Hadj-Rabia S, Glorion C, Lyonnet S, Zerah M, Kemlin I, Rodriguez D, Bastuji-Garin S, Wolkenstein P (2011) Mortality associated with neurofibromatosis 1: a cohort study of 1895 patients in 1980-2006 in France. Orphanet J Rare Dis 6:18
- Eastell R, Christiansen C, Grauer A, Kutilek S, Libanati C, McClung MR, Reid IR, Resch H, Siris E, Uebelhart D, Wang A, Weryha G, Cummings SR (2011) Effects of denosumab on bone turnover markers in postmenopausal osteoporosis. J Bone Miner Res 26(3):530-7
- Ebeling PR (2010) Androgens and osteoporosis. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes **17(3)**:284-92
- Eisman JA (1999) Genetics of osteoporosis. Endocr Rev 20(6):788-804
- Elefteriou F, Benson MD, Sowa H, Starbuck M, Liu X, Ron D, Parada LF, KarsentyG (2006) ATF4mediation of NF1 functions in osteoblast reveals a nutritional basis for congenital skeletal dysplasiae. Cell Metab **4**:441–451
- Elefteriou F, Kolanczyk M, Schindeler A, Viskochil DH, Hock JM, Schorry EK, Crawford AH, Friedman JM, Little D, Peltonen J, Carey JC, Feldman D, Yu X, Armstrong L, Birch P, Kendler DL, Mundlos S, Yang FC, Agiostratidou G, Hunter-Schaedle K, Stevenson DA (2009) Skeletal abnormalities in neurofibromatosis type 1: approaches to therapeutic options. Am J Med Genet A 149A(10):2327-38
- Eriksen EF, Gundersen HJ, Melsen F, Mosekilde L (1984a) Reconstruction of the formative site in iliac trabecular bone in 20 normal individuals employing a kinetic model for matrix and mineral apposition. Metab Bone Dis Relat Res **5(5)**:243-52
- Eriksen EF, Melsen F, Mosekilde L (1984b) Reconstruction of the resorptive site in iliac trabecular bone: a kinetic model for bone resorption in 20 normal individuals. Metab Bone Dis Relat Res **5(5):**235-42
- Evans DG, Baser M, McGaughran J, Sharif S, Howard E, Moran A (2002) Malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumours in neurofibromatosis 1. J Med Genet 39:311-14
- Evans DG, O'Hara C, Wilding A, Ingham SL, Howard E, Dawson J, Moran A, Scott-Kitching V, Holt F, Huson SM (2011) Mortality in neurofibromatosis 1: in North West England: an assessment of actuarial survival in a region of the UK since 1989. Eur J Hum Genet 19(11):1187-91

- Everts V, Delaissé JM, Korper W, Jansen DC, Tigchelaar-Gutter W, Saftig P, Beertsen W (2002) The bone lining cell: its role in cleaning Howship's lacunae and initiating bone formation. J Bone Miner Res 17(1):77-90
- Eyre DR, Weis MA, Wu JJ (2006) Articular cartilage collagen: an irreplaceable framework? Eur Cell Mater **12:**57-63
- Ferner RE, Huson SM, Thomas N, Moss C, Willshaw H, Evans DG, Upadhyaya M, Towers R, Gleeson M, Steiger C, Kirby A (2007) Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of individuals with neurofibromatosis 1. J Med Genet 44(2):81-8
- Fossali E, Signorini E, Intermite RC, Casalini E, Lovaria A, Maninetti MM, Rossi LN (2000) Renovascular disease and hypertension in children with neurofibromatosis. Pediatr Nephrol 14(8-9):806-10.
- Friedman J, Birch P (1997) Type 1 neurofibromatosis: a descriptive analysis of the disorder in 1,728 patients. Am J Med Genet 70:138-43
- Friedrich R, Giese M, Schmelzle R, Mautner V, Scheuer H (2003) Jaw malformations plus displacement and numerical aberrations of teeth in neurofibromatosis type 1: a descriptive analysis of 48 patients based on panoramic radiographs and oral findings. J Craniomaxillofac Surg **31**:1-9
- Fujita H, Utsumi T, Muranaka S, Ogino T, Yano H, Akiyama J, Yasuda T, Utsumi K (2005) Involvement of Ras/extracellular signal-regulated kinase, but not Akt pathway in risedronate-induced apoptosis of U937 cells and its suppression by cytochalasin B. Biochem Pharmacol 69(12):1773-84
- Gallacher SJ, Dixon T (2010) Impact of treatments for postmenopausal osteoporosis (bisphosphonates, parathyroid hormone, strontium ranelate, and denosumab) on bone quality: a systematic review. Calcif Tissue Int **87(6):**469-84
- Glomset JA, Farnsworth CC (1994) Role of protein modification reactions in programming interactions between ras-related GTPases and cell membranes. *Annu Rev Cell Biol* 10:181–205
- Grasser WA, Baumann AP, Petras SF, Harwood HJ, Devalaraja R, Renkiewicz R, Baragi V, Thompson DD, Paraklar VM (2003) Regulation of osteoclast differentiation by statins. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact 3(1):53-62
- Greenwood R, Tupler L, Whitt J, Buu A, Dombeck C, Harp A, Payne M, Eastwood J, Krishnan K, Macfall J (2005) Brain morphometry, T2-weighted hyperintensities, and IQ in children with neurofibromatosis type 1. Arch Neurol **62**:1904-8
- Gutmann DH, Aylsworth A, Carey JC, Korf B, Marks J, Pyeritz RE, Rubenstein A, Viskochil D (1997) The diagnostic evaluation and multidisciplinary management of neurofibromatosis 1 and neurofibromatosis 2. JAMA 278:51–7

- Halasy-Nagy JM, Rodan GA, Reszka AA (2001) Inhibition of bone resorption by alendronate and risedronate does not require osteoclast apoptosis. Bone **29(6):**553-9
- Hamilton E, Clay TM, Blackwell KL (2011). New Perspectives on Zoledronic Acid in Breast Cancer: Potential Augmentation of Anticancer Immune Response. Cancer Invest 29(8):533-41
- Henriksen K, Bay-Jensen AC, Christiansen C, Karsdal MA (2010) Oral salmon calcitonin- pharmacology in osteoporosis. Expert Opin Biol Ther 10(11):1617-29
- Hermanns-Sachweh B, Senderek J, Alfer J, Klosterhalfen B, Büttner R, Füzesi L, Weber M (2005) Vascular changes in the periosteum of congenital pseudarthrosis of the tibia. Pathol Res Pract 201(4):305-12
- Howe TE, Shea B, Dawson LJ, Downie F, Murray A, Ross C, Harbour RT, Caldwell LM, Creed G (2011) Exercise for preventing and treating osteoporosis in postmenopausal women. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 6(7):CD000333
- Huson SM (2008) The neurofibromatoses: classification, clinical features and genetic councelling. In: Monogr Hum Genet, Neurofibromatoses. Edited by D Kaufmann. Basel, Switzerland: Karger; 1–20
- Ilvesaro J, Tuukkanen J (2003) Gap-junctional regulation of osteoclast function. Crit Rev Eukaryot Gene Expr 13(2-4):133-46
- Imai Y, Kondoh S, Kouzmenko A, Kato S (2010) Minireview: osteoprotective action of estrogens is mediated by osteoclastic estrogen receptor-alpha. Mol Endocrinol 24(5):877-85
- Inoue H, Kato R, Fukuyama S, Nonami A, Taniguchi K, Matsumoto K, Nakano T, Tsuda M, Matsumura M, Kubo M, Ishikawa F, Moon B, Takatsu K, Nakanishi Y, Yoshimura A (2005) Spred-1 negatively regulates allergen-induced airway eosinophilia and hyperresponsiveness. *J Exp Med* 201:73-82
- Ismat FA, Xu J, Lu MM, Epstein JA (2006) The neurofibromin GAP-related domain rescues endothelial but not neural crest development in Nf1 mice. J Clin Invest 116(9):2378-84
- Ivaska KK, Gerdhem P, Akesson K, Garnero P, Obrant KJ (2007) Effect of fracture on bone turnover markers: a longitudinal study comparing marker levels before and after injury in 113 elderly women. J Bone Miner Res 22(8):1155-64
- Jacquemin C, Bosley T, Liu D, Svedberg H, Buhaliqa A (2002) Reassessment of sphenoid dysplasia associated with neurofibromatosis type 1. Am J Neurorad 23:644-648
- Jaffe AB, Hall A (2005) Rho GTPases: biochemistry and biology. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol **21**:247-69.
- Järvinen TL, Sievänen H, Khan KM, Heinonen A, Kannus P (2008) Shifting the focus in fracture prevention from osteoporosis to falls. BMJ 336(7636):124-6

- Jensen ED, Gopalakrishnan R, Westendorf JJ (2010) Regulation of gene expression in osteoblasts. Biofactors **36(1):25-32**
- Jett K, Friedman JM (2010) Clinical and genetic aspects of neurofibromatosis 1. Genet Med 12(1):1-11
- Johnson BA, MacWilliams BA, Carey JC, Viskochil DH, D'Astous JL, Stevenson DA (2010) Motor proficiency in children with neurofibromatosis type 1. Pediatr Phys Ther 22(4):344-8
- Jouhilahti EM, Peltonen S, Heape AM, Peltonen J (2011a) The pathoetiology of neurofibromatosis 1. Am J Pathol **178(5)**:1932-9
- Jouhilahti EM, Peltonen S, Callens T, Jokinen E, Heape AM, Messiaen L, Peltonen J (2011b) The development of cutaneous neurofibromas. Am J Pathol 178(2):500-5
- Kamiya N, Mishina Y (2011) New insights on the roles of BMP signaling in bone-A review of recent mouse genetic studies. Biofactors 37(2):75-82
- Kanis JA, Black D, Cooper C, Dargent P, Dawson-Hughes B, De Laet C, Delmas P, Eisman J, Johnell O, Jonsson B, Melton L, Oden A, Papapoulos S, Pols H, Rizzoli R, Silman A, Tenenhouse A (2002) International Osteoporosis Foundation; National Osteoporosis Foundation. A new approach to the development of assessment guidelines for osteoporosis. Osteoporos Int 13(7):527-36
- Kanis JA, Oden A, Johansson H, Borgström F, Ström O, McCloskey E (2009) FRAX and its applications to clinical practice. Bone 44(5):734-43
- Katagiri T, Takahashi N (2002) Regulatory mechanisms of osteoblast and osteoclast differentiation. Oral Dis. 8(3):147-59
- Kato K, Morita I (2011) Acidosis environment promotes osteoclast formation by acting on the last phase of preosteoclast differentiation: a study to elucidate the action points of acidosis and search for putative target molecules. Eur J Pharmacol 663(1-3):27-39
- Kaufmann D, Wiandt S, Veser J, Krone W (1991) Increased melanogenesis in cultured epidermal melanocytes from patients with neurofibromatosis 1 (NF 1). Hum Genet 87(2):144-50
- Kellinsalmi M, Mönkkönen H, Mönkkönen J, Leskelä HV, Parikka V, Hämäläinen M, Lehenkari P (2005) In vitro comparison of clodronate, pamidronate and zoledronic acid effects on rat osteoclasts and human stem cell-derived osteoblasts. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol 97(6):382-91
- Kim HW, Weinstein SL (1997) Spine update. The management of scoliosis in neurofibromatosis. Spine 22(23):2770-6
- Kirkham SG, Samarasinghe RK (2009) Review article: Glucosamine. J Orthop Surg (Hong Kong) 17(1):72-6.

- Kleinerman RA (2009) Radiation-sensitive genetically susceptible pediatric sub-populations. Pediatr Radiol 39 Suppl 1:S27-31
- Klein-Nulend J, Nijweide PJ, Burger EH (2003) Osteocyte and bone structure. Curr Osteoporos Rep 1(1):5-10
- Kolanczyk M, Kossler N, Kühnisch J, Lavitas L, Stricker S, Wilkening U, Manjubala I, Fratzl P, Spörle R, Herrmann B, Parada L, Kornak U, Mundlos S (2007) Multiple roles for neurofibromin in skeletal development and growth. Hum Mol Genet 16:874-86
- Kolanczyk M, Kuehnisch J, Kossler N, Osswald M, Stumpp S, Thurisch B, Kornak U, Mundlos S (2008) Modelling neurofibromatosis type 1 tibial dysplasia and its treatment with lovastatin. BMC Med 31(6):21
- Kuorilehto T, Nissinen M, Koivunen J, Benson M, Peltonen J (2004) NF1 tumor suppressor protein and mRNA in skeletal tissues of developing and adult normal mouse and NF1-deficient embryos. J Bone Miner Res 19:983-9
- Kuorilehto T, Pöyhönen M, Bloigu R, Heikkinen J, Väänänen K, Peltonen J (2005) Decreased bone mineral density and content in neurofibromatosis type 1: lowest local values are located in the load-carrying parts of the body. Osteoporos Int 16:928-36
- Kuorilehto T, Kinnunen P, Nissinen M, Alanne M, Leskelä HV, Lehenkari P, Peltonen J (2006) Vasculopathy in two cases of NF1-related congenital pseudarthrosis. Pathol Res Pract 202(9):687-90
- Lacey D, Timms E, Tan H, Kelley M, Dunstan C, Burgess T, Elliott R, Colombero A, Elliott G, Scully S, Hsu H, Sullivan J, Hawkins N, Davy E, Capparelli C, Eli A, Qian Y, Kaufman S, Sarosi I, Shalhoub V, Senaldi G, Guo J, Delaney J, Boyle W (1998) Osteoprotegerin ligand is a cytokine that regulates osteoclast differentiation and activation. Cell **93**:165–76
- Lakkis MM, Epstein JA (1998) Neurofibromin modulation of ras activity is required for normal endocardialmesenchymal transformation in the developing heart. Development 125:4359–4367
- Lama G, Graziano L, Calabrese E, Grassia C, Rambaldi PF, Cioce F, Tedesco MA, Di Salvo G, Esposito-Salsano M (2004) Blood pressure and cardiovascular involvement in children with neurofibromatosis type1. Pediatr Nephrol **19(4):**413-8
- Lammert M, Friedman JM, Kluwe L, Mautner VF (2005a) Prevalence of neurofibromatosis 1 in German children at elementary school enrollment. Arch Dermatol 141:71-74
- Lammert M, Kappler M, Mautner VF, Lammert K, Störkel S, Friedman JM, Atkins D (2005b) Decreased bone mineral density in patients with neurofibromatosis 1. Osteoporos Int 16(9):1161-6
- Lammert M, Friedman JM, Roth HJ, Friedrich RE, Kluwe L, Atkins D, Schooler T, Mautner VF (2006) Vitamin D

deficiency associated with number of neurofibromas in neurofibromatosis 1. J Med Genet **43(10):**810-3

- Landry CS, Ruppe MD, Grubbs EG (2011) Vitamin D receptors and parathyroid glands. Endocr Pract **17 Suppl 1:**63-8
- Lane NE (2006) Epidemiology, etiology, and diagnosis of osteoporosis. Am J Obstet Gynecol 194(2 Suppl):S3-11
- Le LQ, Parada LF (2007) Tumor microenvironment and neurofibromatosis type I: connecting the GAPs. Oncogene 26(32):4609-16
- Lee L, Yan Y, Pharoah M (1996) Radiographic features of the mandible in neurofibromatosis: a report of 10 cases and review of the literature. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 81:361–367
- Lee SK, Goldring SR, Lorenzo JA. Expression of the calcitonin receptor in bone marrow cell cultures and in bone: a specific marker of the differentiated osteoclast that is regulated by calcitonin (1995) Endocrinology **136(10)**:4572-8
- Lefebvre V, Bhattaram P (2010) Vertebrate skeletogenesis. Curr Top Dev Biol **90:**291-317
- Leskelä H, Kuorilehto T, Risteli J, Koivunen J, Nissinen M, Peltonen S, Kinnunen P, Messiaen L, Lehenkari P, Peltonen J (2009) Congenital pseudarthrosis of neurofibromatosis type 1: impaired osteoblast differentiation and function and altered NF1 gene expression. Bone 44:243-250
- Lewiecki EM, Gordon CM, Baim S, Binkley N, Bilezikian JP, Kendler DL, Hans DB, Silverman S, Bishop NJ, Leonard MB, Bianchi ML, Kalkwarf HJ, Langman CB, Plotkin H, Rauch F, Zemel BS (2008) Special report on the 2007 adult and pediatric Position Development Conferences of the International Society for Clinical Densitometry. Osteoporos Int **19(10)**:1369-78
- Lewis RA, Riccardi VM (1981) Von Recklinghausen neurofibromatosis. Incidence of iris hamartomata. Ophthalmology 88(4):348-54
- Lin AE, Birch PH, Korf BR, Tenconi R, Niimura M, Poyhonen M, Armfield Uhas K, Sigorini M, Virdis R, Romano C, Bonioli E, Wolkenstein P, Pivnick EK, Lawrence M, Friedman JM (2000) Cardiovascular malformations and other cardiovascular abnormalities in neurofibromatosis 1. Am J Med Genet **95(2)**:108-17
- Lin Y, Xu S (2011) AFM analysis of the lacunarcanalicular network in demineralized compact bone. J Microsc 241(3):291-302
- Listernick R, Charrow J, Greenwald MJ, Esterly NB (1989) Optic gliomas in children with neurofibromatosis type 1. J Pediatr **114**:788–792
- Listernick R, Louis DN, Packer RJ, Gutmann DH (1997) Optic pathway gliomas in children with neurofibromatosis 1: consensus statement from the NF1 Optic Pathway Glioma Task Force. Ann Neurol **41**:143–149

- Listernick R, Ferner RE, Liu GT, Gutmann DH (2007) Optic pathway gliomas in neurofibromatosis-1: controversies and recommendations. Ann Neurol **61(3)**:189-98
- Ma J, Li M, Hock J, Yu X (2012) Hyperactivation of mTOR critically regulates abnormal osteoclastogenesis in neurofibromatosis type 1. J Orthop Res 30(1):144-52
- Marchuk D, Saulino A, Tavakkol R, Swaroop M, Wallace M, Andersen L, Mitchell A, Gutmann D, Boguski M, Collins F (1991) cDNA cloning of the type 1 neurofibromatosis gene: complete sequence of the NF1 gene product. Genomics 11: 931-40
- Martin TJ, Sims NA (2005) Osteoclast-derived activity in the coupling of bone formation to resorption. Trends Mol Med **11(2):**76-81
- Massey H, Flanagan A (1999) Human osteoclasts derive from CD14-positive monocytes. Br J Haematol 106:167–70
- Mautner VF, Asuagbor FA, Dombi E, Fünsterer C, Kluwe L, Wenzel R, Widemann BC, Friedman JM (2008) Assessment of benign tumor burden by whole-body MRI in patients with neurofibromatosis 1. Neuro Oncol **10(4)**:593-8
- Mazziotti G, Canalis E, Giustina A (2010) Drug-induced osteoporosis: mechanisms and clinical implications. Am J Med 123(10):877-84
- McNamara J (1984) A method of cephalometric evaluation. Am J Orth **86(6):** 449-469
- Melton LJ, Khosla S, Atkinson EJ, O'Fallon WM, Riggs BL (1997) Relationship of bone turnover to bone density and fractures. J Bone Miner Res 12(7):1083-91
- Midura RJ, Su X, Morcuende JA, Tammi M, Tammi R (2003) Parathyroid hormone rapidly stimulates hyaluronan synthesis by periosteal osteoblasts in the tibial diaphysis of the growing rat. J Biol Chem **278(51):**51462-8
- Miller VM, Jayachandran M, Owen WG (2007) Ageing, oestrogen, platelets and thrombotic risk. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 34(8):814-21
- Miyazaki T, Katagiri H, Kanegae Y, Takayanagi H, Sawada Y, Yamamoto A, Pando MP, Asano T, Verma IM, Oda H, Nakamura K, Tanaka S (2000) Reciprocal role of ERK and NF-kappaB pathways in survival and activation of osteoclasts. J Cell Biol 148(2):333-42
- Morimoto K, Hashimoto N, Suetsugu T (1987) Prenatal developmental process of human temporomandibular joint. J Prosthet Dent 57(6):723-30
- Mulari M, Zhao H, Lakkakorpi P, Väänänen K (2003) Osteoclast ruffled border has distinct subdomains for secretion and degraded matrix uptake. Traffic 4:113–25
- Mäyränpää MK, Mäkitie O, Kallio PE (2010) Decreasing incidence and changing pattern of childhood fractures: A population-based study. J Bone Miner Res 25(12):2752-9

- Neer RM, Arnaud CD, Zanchetta JR, Prince R, Gaich GA, Reginster JY, Hodsman AB, Eriksen EF, Ish-Shalom S, Genant HK, Wang O, Mitlak BH (2001) Effect of parathyroid hormone (1-34) on fractures and bone mineral density in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis. N Engl J Med 344(19):1434-41
- Nelson HD (2008) Menopause. Lancet 371(9614):760-70
- Nichols JC, Amato JE, Chung SM (2003) Characteristics of Lisch nodules in patients with neurofibromatosis type 1. J Pediatr Ophthalmol Strabismus 40(5):293-6
- Nie X (2005) Cranial base in craniofacial development: developmental features, influence on facial growth, anomaly, and molecular basis. Acta Odontol Scand **63(3):127-35**
- NIH (2001) Consensus Development Panel on Osteoporosis Prevention Diagnosis, and Therapy. Osteoporosis prevention, diagnosis, and therapy. JAMA 285(6):785-95.
- Novack DV, Teitelbaum SL (2008) The osteoclast: friend or foe? Annu Rev Pathol **3:**457-84
- Ohnishi I, Sato W, Matsuyama J, Yajima H, Haga N, Kamegaya M, Minami A, Sato M, Yoshino S, Oki T, Nakamura K (2005) Treatment of congenital pseudarthrosis of the tibia: a multicenter study in Japan. J Pediatr Orthop 25(2):219-24
- Packer RJ, Ater J, Allen J, Phillips P, Geyer R, Nicholson HS, Jakacki R, Kurczynski E, Needle M, Finlay J, Reaman G, Boyett JM (1997) Carboplatin and vincristine chemotherapy for children with newly diagnosed progressive low-grade gliomas. J Neurosurg 86(5):747-54
- Palacios S (2008) Advances in hormone replacement therapy: making the menopause manageable. BMC Womens Health 27(8):22
- Pasmant E, Sabbagh A, Hanna N, Masliah-Planchon J, Jolly E, Goussard P, Ballerini P, Cartault F, Barbarot S, Landman-Parker J, Soufir N, Parfait B, Vidaud M, Wolkenstein P, Vidaud D, France R (2009) SPRED1 germline mutations caused a neurofibromatosis type 1 overlapping phenotype. J Med Genet 46:425-430
- Pasmant E, Sabbagh A, Spurlock G, Laurendeau I, Grillo E, Hamel MJ, Martin L, Barbarot S, Leheup B, Rodriguez D, Lacombe D, Dollfus H, Pasquier L, Isidor B, Ferkal S, Soulier J, Sanson M, Dieux-Coeslier A, Bièche I, Parfait B, Vidaud M, Wolkenstein P, Upadhyaya M, Vidaud D; members of the NF France Network (2010) NF1 microdeletions in neurofibromatosis type 1: from genotype to phenotype. Hum Mutat **31(6):**E1506-18
- Peltonen J, Aho H, Rinne U, Penttinen R (1983) Neurofibromatosis tumor and skin cells in culture. Acta Neuropathol 61:275-82
- Petramala L, Giustini S, Zinnamosca L, Marinelli C, Colangelo L, Cilenti G, Formicuccia MC, D'Erasmo E, Calvieri S, Letizia C (2011) Bone mineral metabolism in patients with neurofibromatosis type 1 (von

Recklingausen disease). Arch Dermatol Res DOI: 10.1007/s00403-011-1191-3

- Pierpont EI, Pierpont ME, Mendelsohn NJ, Roberts AE, Tworog-Dube E, Rauen KA, Seidenberg MS (2010) Effects of germline mutations in the Ras/ MAPK signaling pathway on adaptive behavior: Cardiofaciocutaneous syndrome and Noonan syndrome. Am J Med Genet A **152A(3):**591-600
- Qvist P, Christgau S, Pedersen BJ, Schlemmer A, Christiansen C (2002) Circadian variation in the serum concentration of C-terminal telopeptide of type I collagen (serum CTx): effects of gender, age, menopausal status, posture, daylight, serum cortisol, and fasting. Bone **31(1):**57-61
- Rachner TD, Khosla S, Hofbauer LC (2011) Osteoporosis: now and the future. Lancet **377(9773):**1276-87
- Radlanski RJ, Renz H, Klarkowski MC (2003) Prenatal development of the human mandible. 3D reconstructions, morphometry and bone remodelling pattern, sizes 12-117 mm CRL. Anat Embryol (Berl) 207(3):221-32
- Reginster JY, Henrotin Y, Christiansen C, Gamwell-Henriksen E, Bruyere, Collette J, Christgau S (2001) Bone resorption in post-menopausal women with normal and low BMD assessed with biochemical markers specific for telopeptide derived degradation products of collagen type I. Calcif Tissue Int **69(3)**:130-7
- Reginster JY (2011) Antifracture efficacy of currently available therapies for postmenopausal osteoporosis. Drugs **71(1):**65-78
- Reszka AA, Rodan GA (2003) Mechanism of action of bisphosphonates. Curr Osteoporos Rep 1(2):45-52
- Riccardi VM, Eichner JE (1986) Neurofibromatosis: Phenotype, Natural History and Pathogenesis. Baltimore, MD, USA: Johns Hopkins University Press
- Richetta A, Giustini S, Recupero SM, Pezza M, Carlomagno V, Amoruso G, Calvieri S (2004) Lisch nodules of the iris in neurofibromatosis type 1. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 18(3):342-4
- Ricketts RM (1961) Cephalometric analysis and synthesis. Angle orthod **31:**141-155
- Ricketts RM (1981) Perspectives in the clinical application of cephalometrics. The first fifty years. Angle Orthod **51(2)**:115-50
- Riggs BL (2000) The mechanisms of estrogen regulation of bone resorption. J Clin Invest **106(10)**:1203-4
- Rodan G, Reszka A, Golub E, Rizzoli R (2004) Bone safety of long-term bisphosphonate treatment. Curr Med Res Opin 20(8):1291-300
- Rogers MJ (2003) New insights into the molecular mechanisms of action of bisphosphonates. Curr Pharm Des **9(32):**2643-58

- Rosen CJ, Hochberg MC, Bonnick SL, McClung M, Miller P, Broy S, Kagan R, Chen E, Petruschke RA, Thompson DE, de Papp AE; Fosamax Actonel Comparison Trial Investigators (2005) Treatment with once-weekly alendronate 70 mg compared with once-weekly risedronate 35 mg in women with postmenopausal osteoporosis: a randomized doubleblind study. J Bone Miner Res 20(1):141-51
- Roux C, Garnero P, Thomas T, Sabatier JP, Orcel P, Audran M, Comité Scientifique du GRIO (2005) Recommendations for monitoring antiresorptive therapies in postmenopausal osteoporosis. Joint Bone Spine 72(1):26-31
- Saag K, Lindsay R, Kriegman A, Beamer E, Zhou W (2007) A single zoledronic acid infusion reduces bone resorption markers more rapidly than weekly oral alendronate in postmenopausal women with low bone mineral density. Bone 40(5):1238-43
- Sadler TW (2006) Langman's Medical Embryology 10th edition. Baltimore, MD, USA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins
- Sakamoto A, Yoshida T, Yamamoto H, Oda Y, Tsuneyoshi M, Iwamoto Y (2007) Congenital pseudarthrosis of the tibia: analysis of the histology and the NF1 gene. J Orthop Sci 12(4):361-5
- Sato M, Grasser W, Endo N, Akins R, Simmons H, Thompson DD, Golub E, Rodan GA (1991) Bisphosphonate action. Alendronate localization in rat bone and effects on osteoclast ultrastructure. J Clin Invest 88(6):2095-2105
- Schaffner P, Dard MM (2003) Structure and function of RGD peptides involved in bone biology. Cell Mol Life Sci **60(1)**:119-32
- Scheven B, Visser J, Nijweide P (1986) In vitro osteoclast generation from different bone marrow fractions, including a highly enriched haematopoietic stem cell population. Nature 321:79–81
- Schindeler A, Birke O, Yu NY, Morse A, Ruys A, Baldock PA, Little DG (2011) Distal tibial fracture repair in a neurofibromatosis type 1-deficient mouse treated with recombinant bone morphogenetic protein and a bisphosphonate. J Bone Joint Surg Br 93(8):1134-9
- Schubbert S, Bollag G, Shannon K (2007) Deregulated Ras signaling in developmental disorders: new tricks for an old dog. *Curr Opin Genet Dev* 17:15-22
- Schuit SC, van der Klift M, Weel AE, de Laet CE, Burger H, Seeman E, Hofman A, Uitterlinden AG, van Leeuwen JP, Pols HA (2004) Fracture incidence and association with bone mineral density in elderly men and women: the Rotterdam Study. Bone 34(1):195-202 Erratum in: Bone 2006 38(4):603
- Seitz S, Schnabel C, Busse B, Schmidt HU, Beil FT, Friedrich RE, Schinke T, Mautner VF, Amling M (2010) High bone turnover and accumulation of osteoid in patients with neurofibromatosis 1. Osteoporos Int 21(1):119-27

- Selander K, Lehenkari P, Väänänen K (1994) The effects of bisphosphonates on the resorption cycle of isolated osteoclasts. Calcif Tissue Int **55:**368–75
- Serra E, Puig S, Otero D, Gaona A, Kruyer H, Ars E, Estivill X, Lazaro C (1997) Confirmation of a Double-Hit Model for the NF1 Gene in Benign Neurofibromas. Am J Hum Genet 61:512-519
- Shapiro F (2008) Bone development and its relation to fracture repair. The role of mesenchymal osteoblasts and surface osteoblasts. Eur Cell Mater **15:53**–76
- Shapiro S, Abramovitch K, Van Dis M, Skoczylas L, Langlais R, Jorgenson R, Young R, Riccardi V (1984) Neurofibromatosis: oral and radiographic manifestations. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 58:493–498
- Sharif S, Moran A, Huson SM, Iddenden R, Shenton A, Howard E, Evans DG (2007) Women with neurofibromatosis 1 are at a moderately increased risk of developing breast cancer and should be considered for early screening. J Med Genet 44:481–4
- Side L, Taylor B, Cayouette M, Conner E, Thompson P, Luce M, Shannon K (1997) Homozygous inactivation of the NF1 gene in bone marrow cells from children with neurofibromatosis type 1 and malignant myeloid disorders. N Engl J Med 336(24):1713-20
- Siris ES, Chen YT, Abbott TA, Barrett-Connor E, Miller PD, Wehren LE, Berger ML (2004) Bone mineral density thresholds for pharmacological intervention to prevent fractures. Arch Intern Med 164:1108–1112
- Spurlock G, Bennett E, Chuzhanova N, Thomas N, Jim H, Side L, Davies S, Haan E, Kerr B, Huson S, Upadhyaya M (2009) SPRED1 mutations (Legius syndrome): another clinically useful genotype for dissecting the neurofibromatosis type 1 phenotype. J Med Genet 46:431-437
- Steiner C (1959) Cephalometrics In Clinical Practice. Angle Orthrodont **29(1):** 8–29
- Stevenson DA, Birch PH, Friedman JM, Viskochil DH, Balestrazzi P, Boni S, Buske A, Korf BR, Niimura M, Pivnick EK, Schorry EK, Short MP, Tenconi R, Tonsgard JH, Carey JC (1999) Descriptive analysis of tibial pseudarthrosis in patients with neurofibromatosis 1. Am J Med Genet 84:413–419
- Stevenson DA, Zhou H, Ashrafi S, Messiaen LM, Carey JC, D'Astous JL, Santora SD, Viskochil DH (2006) Double inactivation of NF1 in tibial pseudarthrosis. Am J Hum Genet 79(1):143-8
- Stevenson DA, Moyer-Mileur LJ, Murray M, Slater H, Sheng X, Carey JC, Dube B, Viskochil DH (2007) Bone mineral density in children and adolescents with neurofibromatosis type 1. J Pediatr 150:83-88
- Stevenson DA, Viskochil DH, Carey JC, Slater H, Murray M, Sheng X, D'Astous J, Hanson H, Schorry E, Moyer-Mileur LJ (2009) Tibial geometry in individuals with neurofibromatosis type 1 without anterolateral bowing

of the lower leg using peripheral quantitative computed tomography. Bone **44(4):**585-9

- Stevenson DA, Yan J, He Y, Li H, Liu Y, Zhang Q, Jing Y, Guo Z, Zhang W, Yang D, Wu X, Hanson H, Li X, Staser K, Viskochil DH, Carey JC, Chen S, Miller L, Roberson K, Moyer-Mileur L, Yu M, Schwarz EL, Pasquali M, Yang FC (2011a) Multiple increased osteoclast functions in individuals with neurofibromatosis type 1. Am J Med Genet A. 155(5):1050-9
- Stevenson DA, Yang FC (2011b) The musculoskeletal phenotype of the RASopathies. Am J Med Genet C Semin Med Genet 157(2):90-103
- Stevenson DA, Viskochil DH, Carey JC, Sheng X, Murray M, Moyer-Mileur L, Shelton J, Roberts WL, Bunker AM, Hanson H, Bauer S, D'Astous JL (2011c) Pediatric 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations in neurofibromatosis type 1. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab 24(3-4):169-74
- Stiller CA, Chessells JM, Fitchett M (1994) Neurofibromatosis and childhood leukaemia/ lymphoma: a population-based UKCCSG study. Br J Cancer 70(5):969-72
- Stumpf DAJ, Annergers J, Brown S, Conneally P, Housman D, Leppert M, Miller J, Moss M, Pileggi A, Rapin I, Strohman R, Swanson L, Zimmersman A (1988) Neurofibromatosis. Conference statement. National Insitutes of Health Consensus Development Conference. Arch Neurol 45:575-78
- Sun Y, Büki KG, Ettala O, Vääräniemi JP, Väänänen HK (2005) Possible role of direct Rac1-Rab7 interaction in ruffled border formation of osteoclasts. J Biol Chem 280(37):32356-61
- Szudek J, Birch P, Friedman J (2000) Growth in North American white children with neurofibromatosis 1 (NF1). J Med Genet 37:933–938
- Szudek J, Evans DG, Friedman JM (2003) Patterns of associations of clinical features in neurofibromatosis 1 (NF1). Hum Genet **112(3)**:289-97
- Szulc P, Hofbauer LC, Heufelder AE, Roth S, Delmas PD (2001) Osteoprotegerin serum levels in men: correlation with age, estrogen, and testosterone status. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 86(7):3162-5
- Tedesco MA, Di Salvo G, Natale F, Pergola V, Calabrese E, Grassia C, Ratti G, Iarussi D, Iacono A, Calabrò R, Lama G (2002) The heart in neurofibromatosis type 1: an echocardiographic study. Am Heart J **143(5)**:883-8
- Tedesco MA, Di Salvo G, Natale F, Graziano L, Grassia C, Calabrò R, Lama G (2005) Early cardiac morphologic and functional changes in neurofibromatosis type 1 hypertensives: an echocardiographic and tissue Doppler study. Int J Cardiol 101(2):243-7
- Thompson HL, Viskochil DH, Stevenson DA, Chapman KL (2010) Speech-language characteristics of children with neurofibromatosis type 1. Am J Med Genet A 152A(2):284-90
- Thompson K, Rogers MJ, Coxon FP, Crockett JC (2006) Cytosolic entry of bisphosphonate drugs requires acidification of vesicles after fluid-phase endocytosis. Mol Pharmacol **69(5)**:1624-32
- Teitelbaum SL (2006) Osteoclasts; culprits in inflammatory osteolysis. Arthritis Res Ther 8(1):201
- Tidyman WE, Rauen KA (2009) The RASopathies: developmental syndromes of Ras/MAPK pathway dysregulation. Curr Opin Genet Dev **19(3):**230-6
- Tiedemann K, Hussein O, Sadvakassova G, Guo Y, Siegel PM, Komarova SV (2009) Breast cancerderived factors stimulate osteoclastogenesis through the Ca2+/protein kinase C and transforming growth factor-beta/MAPK signaling pathways. J Biol Chem 284(48):33662-70
- Tonino RP, Meunier PJ, Emkey R, Rodriguez-Portales JA, Menkes CJ, Wasnich RD, Bone HG, Santora AC, Wu M, Desai R, Ross PD (2000) Skeletal benefits of alendronate: 7-year treatment of postmenopausal osteoporotic women. Phase III Osteoporosis Treatment Study Group. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 85(9):3109-15
- Trouvin AP, Goëb V (2010) Receptor activator of nuclear factor-κB ligand and osteoprotegerin: maintaining the balance to prevent bone loss. Clin Interv Aging **5**:345-54
- Tucker T, Schnabel C, Hartmann M, Friedrich RE, Frieling I, Kruse HP, Mautner VF, Friedman JM (2009) Bone health and fracture rate in individuals with neurofibromatosis 1 (NF1). J Med Genet 46(4):259-65
- Upadhyaya M, Spurlock G, Monem B, Thomas N, Friedrich RE, Kluwe L, Mautner V (2008) Germline and somatic NF1 gene mutations in plexiform neurofibromas. Hum Mutat 29(8):E103-11
- Väänänen HK, Zhao H, Mulari M, Halleen JM (2000) The cell biology of osteoclast function. J Cell Sci 113 (Pt 3):377-81
- Valencia A, Chardin P, Wittinghofer A, Sander C (1991) The ras protein family: evolutionary tree and role of conserved amino acids. Biochemistry 30(19):4637-48
- Vasikaran S, Eastell R, Bruyère O, Foldes AJ, Garnero P, Griesmacher A, McClung M, Morris HA, Silverman S, Trenti T, Wahl DA, Cooper C, Kanis JA; for the IOF-IFCC Bone Marker Standards Working Group (2011). Markers of bone turnover for the prediction of fracture risk and monitoring of osteoporosis treatment: a need for international reference standards. Osteoporos Int 22(2):391-420
- Virdis R, Street M, Bandello M, Tripodi C, Donadio A, Villani A, Cagozzi L, Garavelli L, Bernasconi S (2003) Growth and pubertal disorders in neurofibromatosis type 1. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab 16(Suppl 2):289–292
- Visnapuu V, Peltomäki T, Isotupa K, Kantomaa T, Helenius H (2000) Distribution and characterization of proliferative cells in the rat mandibular condyle during growth. Eur J Orthod 22(6):631-8 Erratum in: Eur J Orthod (2001) 23(4):473

- Visnapuu V, Peltonen S, Ellilä T, Kerosuo E, Väänänen K, Happonen R, Peltonen J (2007) Periapical cemental dysplasia is common in women with NF1. Eur J Med Genet 50:274–280
- Visnapuu V, Peltonen S, Tammisalo T, Peltonen J, Happonen RP. Radiographic Findings in the Jaws of Patients With Neurofibromatosis 1 (2011). J Oral Maxillofac Surg DOI: 10.1016/j.joms.2011.06.204
- Walker D (1975) Control of bone resorption by hematopoietic tissue. The induction and reversal of congenital osteopetrosis in mice through use of bone marrow and splenic transplants. J Exp Med 142:651–63
- Walker L, Thompson D, Easton D, Ponder B, Ponder M, Frayling I, Baralle D (2006) A prospective study of neurofibromatosis type 1 cancer incidence in the UK. Br J Cancer 95:233–8
- Wang W, Nyman JS, Moss HE, Gutierrez G, Mundy GR, Yang X, Elefteriou F (2010) Local low-dose lovastatin delivery improves the bone-healing defect caused by Nf1 loss of function in osteoblasts. J Bone Miner Res 25(7):1658-67
- Wang W, Nyman JS, Ono K, Stevenson DA, Yang X, Elefteriou F (2011) Mice lacking Nf1 in osteochondroprogenitor cells display skeletal dysplasia similar to patients with neurofibromatosis type I. Hum Mol Genet 20(20):3910-24
- Wells GA, Cranney A, Peterson J, Boucher M, Shea B, Robinson V, Coyle D, Tugwell P (2008) Alendronate for the primary and secondary prevention of osteoporotic fractures in postmenopausal women. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 23(1):CD001155
- Williams VC, Lucas J, Babcock MA, Gutmann DH, Korf B, Maria BL (2009) Neurofibromatosis type 1 revisited. Pediatrics 123:124 –133
- Xu G, O'Connell P, Viskochil D, Cawthon R, Robertson M, Culver M, Dunn D, Stevens J, Gesteland R, White R (1990) The neurofibromatosis type 1 gene encodes a protein related to GAP. Cell 62:599-608
- Yan J, Chen S, Zhang Y, Li X, Li Y, Wu X, Yuan J, Robling A, Kapur R, Karpur R, Chan R, Yang F (2008) Rac1 mediates the osteoclast gains-in-function induced by haploinsufficiency of Nf1. Hum Mol Genet 17:936-48
- Yang F, Chen S, Robling A, Yu X, Nebesio T, Yan J, Morgan T, Li X, Yuan J, Hock J, Ingram D, Clapp D (2006) Hyperactivation of p21ras and PI3K cooperate to alter murine and human neurofibromatosis type 1-haploinsufficient osteoclast functions. J Clin Invest 116:2880–91
- Yasuda H, Shima N, Nakagawa N, Yamaguchi K, Kinosaki M, Mochizuki S, Tomoyasu A, Yano K, Goto M, Murakami A, Tsuda E, Morinaga T, Higashio K, Udagawa N, Takahashi N, Suda T (1998) Osteoclast differentiation factor is a ligand for osteoprotegerin/ osteoclastogenesis-inhibitory factor and is identical to TRANCE/RANKL. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95(7):3597-602

- Yilmaz K, Ozmen M, Bora Goksan S, Eskiyurt N (2007) Bone mineral density in children with neurofibromatosis 1. Acta Paediatr **96**:1220-1222
- Yoshida H, Hayashi S, Kunisada T, Ogawa M, Nishikawa S, Okamura H, Sudo T, Shultz L (1990) The murine mutation osteopetrosis is in the coding region of the macrophage colony stimulating factor gene. Nature 345:442–4
- Young H, Hyman S, North K (2002) Neurofibromatosis 1: clinical review and exceptions to the rules. J Child Neurol **17:613-21**
- Yu X, Chen S, Potter OL, Murthy SM, Li J, Pulcini JM, Ohashi N, Winata T, Everett ET, Ingram D, ClappWD, Hock JM (2005) Neurofibromin and its inactivation of Ras are prerequisites for osteoblast functioning. Bone 36:793–802

- Zhang W, Rhodes SD, Zhao L, He Y, Zhang Y, Shen Y, Yang D, Wu X, Li X, Yang X, Park SJ, Chen S, Turner C, Yang FC (2011) Primary osteopathy of vertebrae in a neurofibromatosis type 1 murine model. Bone 48(6):1378-87
- Zhao Q, Eberspaecher H, Lefebvre V, De Crombrugghe B (1997) Parallel expression of Sox9 and Col2a1 in cells undergoing chondrogenesis. Dev Dyn 209(4):377-86
- Zinnamosca L, Petramala L, Cotesta D, Marinelli C, Schina M, Cianci R, Giustini S, Sciomer S, Anastasi E, Calvieri S, De Toma G, Letizia C (2011) Neurofibromatosis type 1 (NF1) and pheochromocytoma: prevalence, clinical and cardiovascular aspects. Arch Dermatol Res **303(5)**:317-25